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          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This joint

          3  hearing of the General Welfare Committee and the

          4  Committee on Aging is called to order.

          5                 First of all, I'd like to thank and

          6  welcome my fellow chair, Council Member Maria del

          7  Carmen Arroyo, and I want to thank her for the

          8  collaboration that we've had in preparing this

          9  hearing that our staffs have had in getting together

         10  to work on what is really a vital issue that

         11  deserves much more attention than it's getting in

         12  the City of New York. I have a few opening comments

         13  and then Chair Arroyo will have a few statements as

         14  well before we hear from the witnesses.

         15                 I would like to also welcome our

         16  colleagues. Let me get a clear sight line here. I

         17  know Council Member Gentile was there a moment ago,

         18  Council Member Jessica Lappin of Manhattan, Council

         19  Member Gale Brewer of Manhattan, and Council Member

         20  Kendall Stewart of Brooklyn.

         21                 I'd also like to thank all the

         22  advocates and experts who helped us prepare for this

         23  hearing, and some of the workers who talked to us

         24  about their experiences. I would like to thank your

         25  Counsel, Jackie Sherman, and all the staff of the
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          2  Council who helped us to prepare this.

          3                 Now, as I said, this is one of those

          4  issues that if you saw it take place probably pretty

          5  much anywhere else in this country, it would be

          6  front page news for days on end. Thirty-five

          7  thousand workers being treated unfairly, not getting

          8  a living wage, not getting the benefits they

          9  deserve, serving hundreds of thousands of New

         10  Yorkers each year. Not just any New Yorkers, the

         11  most vulnerable New Yorkers, senior citizens, people

         12  with disabilities. That should be something that's

         13  on the minds of everyone who makes policy in New

         14  York City, but it's not. And that's why this hearing

         15  is so important, because it gives us an opportunity

         16  to listen to the workers and hear about their

         17  experiences, to listen to some of the people who

         18  employ them, and obviously to listen to the Mayoral

         19  Administration understand how they intend to deal

         20  with this crisis.

         21                 The bottom line is we have an

         22  opportunity today to start a process of change that

         23  will finally bring justice to these workers and will

         24  greatly benefit the people they serve and the

         25  taxpayers, because every time we make sure that
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          2  people get a living wage and get proper benefits, we

          3  ultimately benefit everyone in New York City and the

          4  quality of life for these workers and their

          5  families.

          6                 I want to thank our Speaker Christine

          7  Quinn, who has been a real leader on this issue. Not

          8  just in the last few months, but for years before

          9  that as Chair of our Health Committee. And she, in

         10  fact, made such a focus on this issue that she put

         11  forward a set of principles that really should

         12  govern how we deal with agencies with which the City

         13  does business. And these are fair employment

         14  principles. They're very straightforward. They call

         15  upon all agencies to provide the highest quality of

         16  care and to pay a living wage in the process, so

         17  that the folks who do the work, in this case we're

         18  talking about home health aides, that they can care

         19  for themselves and families in addition to the

         20  people on whose behalf they work.

         21                 These principles also call for us to

         22  ensure that home health aides have adequate

         23  employer-funded health insurance. Again, that's in

         24  everyone's interest, including the taxpayer's

         25  interest, that we enhance training and education for
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          2  home health aides so they can provide the best

          3  possible care and have the best possible careers. We

          4  refuse to contract with any agencies for these

          5  services that don't treat their home health aides

          6  fairly. So, in other words, as we go forward, that

          7  we not make any contracts with an agency with a

          8  proven track record of treating their workers

          9  unfairly, and that we cease business currently with

         10  agencies that have been shown to engage in these

         11  negative practices. These are very important and

         12  powerful principles.

         13                 Now, if you ask the question what

         14  leverage do we have as the City of New York? Well,

         15  $300 million worth of leverage.

         16                 Right now the Human Resources

         17  Administration, Department for the Aging, spend

         18  roughly $300 million annually on various types of

         19  home care with the same exact firms that are not

         20  providing appropriate wages and benefits to home

         21  health aides, and I think that's an extraordinary

         22  type of leverage. You don't see that typically when

         23  you're trying to fight for justice for folks to have

         24  $300 million held over the employers involved. It's

         25  an extraordinary situation.

                                                            9

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2                 Let me explain a little bit about the

          3  different types of folks who do work, both some

          4  contracted through agencies that have contracted

          5  with the City and some don't.

          6                 The City's contracts are for services

          7  by home attendants and housekeepers, and they,

          8  thankfully, are covered by the Living Wage Law that

          9  was passed several years ago by the Council. That

         10  law mandates that any home attendant and housekeeper

         11  who works as a result of a City contract, makes at

         12  least $9.50 an hour, plus $1.50 hourly premium when

         13  the agency does not provide health care benefits.

         14                 Now, a number of the home care

         15  agencies, and these are for-profit agencies, I

         16  emphasize, have undertaken not only to not treat

         17  their employees fairly, but to resist every effort

         18  made by these employees to unionize. And we have to

         19  remember that in this country, the right to unionize

         20  is a very fundamental right, and it's protected by

         21  federal law. And in fact, what we have seen is not

         22  only have these agencies chosen to be unfair in

         23  their wages and benefits, but they have gone out of

         24  their way to undermine their employees' rights to

         25  unionize. That includes firms such as Personal
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          2  Touch, Best Care and Prestige.

          3                 For those who are lucky enough to be

          4  covered by Living Wage Law, it doesn't mean,

          5  however, that they get some of the other types of

          6  benefits and supports they deserve. They don't get

          7  paid vacation time. They don't get sick time or

          8  holidays. There's no real training opportunities or

          9  career advancement opportunities.

         10                 So, even those who are lucky enough

         11  to get covered by the Living Wage Law, which was a

         12  huge fight to get passed in this Council, even those

         13  lucky enough to get covered by that, don't get all

         14  the other types of support and benefits, nor an

         15  opportunity to move their careers forward.

         16                 But it's much, much worse for people

         17  who work for those same agencies but are home health

         18  aides, as opposed to attendants or housekeepers.

         19  Home health aides, unfortunately, are not covered by

         20  our Living Wage Law, and they earn wages as low as

         21  minimum wage, $6.75 an hour, and as high as $7.50 an

         22  hour, which everyone knows is basically a wage you

         23  cannot live on in New York City in any way, shape or

         24  form.

         25                 Now, we reached out to a number of
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          2  the agencies to provide -- that received these

          3  contracts from the City and provide this work, and

          4  we said to them, well, if what you think you're

          5  doing is right, why don't you come before the

          6  Council and explain? Why don't you give us your side

          7  of the story?

          8                 Well, one after another told us that

          9  they were not willing to do that, including, again,

         10  Personal Touch, Best Care and Prestige.

         11                 So, we really don't know everything

         12  we like to know about these businesses and why

         13  they're making the decisions they're making.

         14                 We do know they're very profitable.

         15  We do know their administrators make very high

         16  salaries. We do know they have the resources to

         17  treat their workers better and are choosing not to

         18  do so.

         19                 And I'll give you one example.

         20  Personal Touch reported nationwide profits of $8.3

         21  million last year. So, clearly this is not about

         22  them scraping by and not being able to help the

         23  people who do this hard work every day.

         24                 I should also note that when we

         25  called the Corporate Office of Best Care, and
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          2  directly invited their Chief Executive to come to

          3  today's hearing, we were told that quote/unquote, he

          4  is away for the winter.

          5                 Now, I say to everyone in the crowd

          6  assembled and my colleagues, I'm sure we all look

          7  forward to a day where we might be able to say we're

          8  away for the winter while holding down a CEO job,

          9  but I don't think that's going to happen for most of

         10  us and I think that's further evidence of the fact

         11  there is no lack of resources in these firms.

         12                 So, today the question before us is,

         13  why is the City of New York continuing to do

         14  business with firms that treat their workers so

         15  unfairly? And given the significant size of these

         16  contracts, and the importance of the work that these

         17  workers do, 35,000 workers providing absolutely

         18  fundamental service to people in New York City, why

         19  would the City agencies allow this to continue? And

         20  what would they do if these workers no longer able

         21  to accept the situation decided to go on strike? How

         22  on earth would the City deal with the impact on

         23  hundreds of thousands of vulnerable New Yorkers?

         24                 We've got to begin the process today

         25  of getting answers to those questions. And I've got

                                                            13

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2  to remind the City of New York, they have a much

          3  bigger obligation here to everyone involved to play

          4  a forceful role in ensuring a positive outcome of

          5  this problem, and ensuring workers get justice.

          6                 That being said, I'd like to turn now

          7  to my colleague, my fellow Chair for this hearing,

          8  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 Good afternoon to everyone. Thank you

         12  all for being here today. Before I get started with

         13  my opening statement, I'd like to acknowledge

         14  Council Member Gallagher is here, Council Member

         15  White from Manhattan -- Queens. I'm still learning

         16  the members in their respective boroughs.

         17                 Thank you, Chairman DeBlasio, for

         18  conducting this hearing jointly with the Committee

         19  of the Aging. Today's hearing is an extremely

         20  important one for the elderly and disabled New

         21  Yorkers, as well as all of us who live, who believe

         22  that they are entitled to quality, compassionate

         23  home service, home care services and have a deep

         24  respect for workers who provide these services.

         25                 I personally am both surprised and
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          2  very disappointed that we even have to have this

          3  hearing today. The Department for the Aging funds

          4  essential home attendant and housekeeping services

          5  for homebound elderly in New York.

          6                 People who provide this care render a

          7  critical service to their clients and to the City as

          8  a whole. We should not entrust agencies that

          9  whenever possible deny their employees decent wages,

         10  standard benefits, with this critical mission.

         11                 And what I find most troubling about

         12  the practices that these agencies engage in, and the

         13  wages that they pay the workers is that often, and

         14  from personal experiences of individuals who I have

         15  had the privilege of knowing, working with seniors,

         16  that they often must work multiple shifts in order

         17  to make ends meet, because the salaries that they

         18  earn from the pay that they get from these agencies

         19  is not sufficient to sustain not only themselves,

         20  but their families. And I think that's disgraceful,

         21  to say the least.

         22                 I think that with the multi-million

         23  dollar contracts that these agencies have, and the

         24  fact that the Department for the Aging is

         25  responsible for contracting with these agencies,
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          2  some I think have 30 percent of the agency's

          3  contracts, Department for the Aging contracts.

          4  Thirty percent, and we can't hold those agencies

          5  accountable for what they pay their workers is just

          6  for us unacceptable, and in my opinion, the City

          7  should not be doing business with these entities.

          8                 And with that said, I look forward to

          9  the testimony. I am so pleased to see so many of you

         10  here, and we hope that this begins a dialogue to

         11  deal with the issue of these agencies who CEOs go

         12  away for the winter, and then you have to deal with

         13  the reality of what you earn as workers or how

         14  you're going to take care of your family.

         15                 So, with that said, Chairman

         16  DeBlasio.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         18  much, Madam Chair.

         19                 I just want to note one of our

         20  colleagues who serves on the General Welfare

         21  Committee would have loved to have been here, and I

         22  bet she would have had the toughest questions of

         23  anyone, but unfortunately Council Member Annabel

         24  Palma is sick today and could not be here. But I

         25  know she will be deeply involved on this issue.
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          2                 Let me call forward the

          3  representatives of the Administration. Linda Hacker

          4  of HRA, and Karen Resnick of DFTA.

          5                 You can move the microphone closer.

          6  There you go.

          7                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

          8  Good afternoon, Chairs DeBlasio and Arroyo, and

          9  members of the General Welfare Aging Committees. My

         10  name is Linda Hacker, and I'm the Assistant Deputy

         11  Commissioner of Managed Care and Family Health Plus

         12  at HRA's Medical Insurance and Community Services

         13  Administration.

         14                 I'm here today to brief you on the

         15  Home Care Services Program, a fundamental division

         16  at HRA. The Home Care Services Programs's mission is

         17  to ensure the ongoing provision of quality,

         18  non-institutional long-term care to the disabled and

         19  frail elderly population of New York City.

         20                 HRA's Home Care Services Program

         21  provides an array of services to the disabled or

         22  frail elderly individuals who are Medicaid eligible.

         23                 The largest number of clients receive

         24  personal care services, but the Home Care Services

         25  Program also facilitates access to other long-term
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          2  care programs, including managed long-term care and

          3  a long-term Home Health Care Program often referred

          4  to as Lombardi Program.

          5                 Since Fiscal Year 2001, the total

          6  number of individuals receiving home care services

          7  increased by 15.5 percent, from 69,637 to over

          8  80,000. While during this time period the HRA

          9  personal care program caseload has remained

         10  relatively stable at approximately 54,000 cases.

         11  We've experienced significant growth in the managed

         12  long-term care and long-term home health care

         13  Lombardi programs, where the caseloads have

         14  increased by 158 percent and 22.8 percent

         15  respectively.

         16                 This trend is expected to continue as

         17  the State continues to expand capacity in these

         18  programs and the senior population continues to

         19  grow.

         20                 Currently, 38 percent of the client

         21  serviced by HRA's personal care contractors are age

         22  81 and above. The availability of the various

         23  long-term care options will enable many of these

         24  individuals to remain at home in their future years

         25  and avoid higher cost institutionalization.
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          2                 It's important to note the

          3  distinction between personal care services and home

          4  health care.

          5                 In New York City personal care

          6  services are currently provided for

          7  Medicaid-eligible consumers by 95 vendors who are

          8  licensed by the New York State Department of Health

          9  and have a contractual relationship with HRA.

         10                 Services are provided by trained home

         11  attendants and are limited to assisting with the

         12  functional activities of daily living, such as

         13  bathing, rooming, toileting, transferring and

         14  ambulating.

         15                 They also assist with instrumental

         16  activities of daily living, which are sometimes

         17  referred to as chore services, including shopping,

         18  laundry, cooking and house cleaning.

         19                 Home health care is provided by

         20  Certified Home Health Agencies, known as CHHAs, who

         21  are certified by the New York State Department of

         22  Health. Home Health Care is overseen by the State

         23  Department of Health. CHHAs do not contract with

         24  HRA, and HRA does not have oversight over them.

         25                 Consumers may be referred to CHHA
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          2  services through several entities, but are most

          3  often referred by hospitals.

          4                 Home health care is a relatively

          5  short-term method of providing sub-acute ambulatory

          6  care interventions to bring about an improvement in

          7  health status and may include nursing services

          8  provided under the direction of the recipient's

          9  physician, physical therapy, occupational therapy

         10  and other health-related services.

         11                 Many cases that have previously been

         12  receiving child care are eventually transferred to

         13  the Home Care Services Program for personal care

         14  services.

         15                 Consumers in need of assistance can

         16  access Medicaid-funded personal care services in New

         17  York City from one of the Home Care Service

         18  Program's nine local Community-Alternative Systems

         19  Agencies, CASAs, a nursing and social assessment is

         20  conducted in the client's home and a plan of care is

         21  developed to meet the client's specific needs.

         22                 The Home Care Services Program

         23  pre-authorizes the weekly number of hours to be

         24  provided based on the determined level of need.

         25                 When both the plan of care and
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          2  Medicaid coverage are in place, the client is

          3  assigned to a contracted provider.

          4                 Each client has a caseworker who is

          5  responsible for ongoing oversight of the case,

          6  including service reauthorization, at appropriate

          7  intervals.

          8                 HRA's Home Care Services Program has

          9  several tools to ensure program efficiency and

         10  integrity and vendor accountability.

         11                 A comprehensive contract managing

         12  system is utilized to ensure vendor agency

         13  compliance and the provision of quality client

         14  services.

         15                 Home care staff conduct three annual

         16  programmatic monitoring visits to each home care

         17  agency. The monitoring visit involves the evaluation

         18  of 27 quality of service performance indicators and

         19  13 contracts compliance areas through a random

         20  sampling of vendor agency home attendant and client

         21  records, data gathering and analysis of findings.

         22                 In addition, fiscal monitoring visits

         23  are conducted to evaluate the adequacy of

         24  contractors' internal financial controls and fiscal

         25  compliance.
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          2                 We also conduct exit conferences,

          3  review and monitor corrective action plans and

          4  conduct follow-up visits concerning areas of

          5  identified deficiencies.

          6                 The Home Care Services Program

          7  Quality Control Unit field staff conduct random,

          8  unannounced, quality control visits to assess the

          9  quality of service delivery and client satisfaction

         10  with the vendor agency. A complaint tracking unit

         11  receives, evaluates and investigates and insures

         12  resolution of complaints received in response to

         13  home care service delivery.

         14                 The Unit maintains a telephone hot

         15  line where service complaints are registered and

         16  investigated to ensure that any potential risk to

         17  the client is removed and correction actions are

         18  taken as needed.

         19                 Consumers are given the hot line

         20  number at the initiation of service and vendors are

         21  required to provide consumers with the hot line

         22  number at least once annually.

         23                 The hot line number is also provided

         24  by quality control field staff during unannounced

         25  quality control visits. Consumers can also access
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          2  the number through 3-1-1, or on the HRA website.

          3                 All complaints are taken seriously

          4  and handled as expeditiously as possible, based on

          5  their severity.

          6                 HRA requires the vendor agency to

          7  have a registered nurse visit a client and resolve

          8  the risk condition within 24 hours for a complaint

          9  that is categorized as high risk.

         10                 The complaint tracking unit also

         11  conducts an independent investigation of all

         12  high-risk complaints.

         13                 We are in the process of implementing

         14  a performance evaluation tool based on HRA's

         15  VendorStat model, where more comprehensive

         16  indicators will be developed to measure vendor

         17  performance.

         18                 This will allow us to evaluate

         19  vendors on a more frequent basis on compliance on a

         20  broader range of program quality indicators. Each

         21  indicator will be ranked so that HRA can evaluate

         22  how well the vendor is performing in comparison to

         23  other vendors as well.

         24                 We are implementing a similar

         25  performance management support for our CASA centers,
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          2  modeled after our JobStat Program that monitors job

          3  center performance.

          4                 The CASA Stat Program provides local

          5  managers with performance data to which they are

          6  held accountable, and facilitates meetings through

          7  which performance can be reviewed and

          8  problem-solving strategies developed.

          9                 There are several other services that

         10  fall under the umbrella of Home Care Services

         11  Program.

         12                 These include the consumer-directed

         13  personal care, Long-term Home Health Care, Lombardi,

         14  and managed long-term care programs.

         15                 HRA's Home Care Services Program

         16  determines Medicaid eligibility and reviews and

         17  approves care plans for consumers in need of these

         18  programs.

         19                 The importance of these programs is

         20  highlighted by a recent and continuous increase in

         21  consumer demand for these services.

         22                 Long-term Home Health Care is a

         23  federal waiver program under which an individual who

         24  would otherwise require nursing home care can

         25  receive necessary nursing, clinical and social
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          2  support services so the individual can remain in the

          3  home.

          4                 The structure of the waiver allows

          5  states to determine the level of need and make

          6  adjustments as necessary.

          7                 Services are provided by State

          8  contracted vendors in 120-day increments, and the

          9  cost is limited to a maximum of 75 percent of the

         10  cost of nursing home care.

         11                 The State has recently approved

         12  significant expansion of the program. Currently they

         13  plan to add eight new Lombardi providers and

         14  approximately 1,125 new slots.

         15                 Managed long-term care is a

         16  medically-managed home care services program

         17  overseen by New York State Department of Health. It

         18  provides comprehensive long-term care to consumers

         19  who are medically-eligible for care in a

         20  health-related facility or nursing home.

         21                 The client receives continuity of

         22  care through case management and a provider network.

         23                 The number of cases in this program

         24  has increased from approximately 5,000 in Fiscal

         25  Year 2001 to more than 12,800 in Fiscal Year 2006.
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          2                 There are currently eight providers

          3  in New York City. Services are provided by State

          4  contracted vendors. The Consumer-Directed Personal

          5  Care Program allows a consumer to select, supervise

          6  and train a personal assistant of their choice to

          7  provide the authorized hours of care.

          8                 The Nurse Practice Act is waived for

          9  this program, so that the consumer may train the

         10  personal assistant to carry out skilled nursing

         11  services and/or invasive interventions that are not

         12  permitted under the Personal Care program.

         13                 HRA's Home Care Services Program

         14  continues its mission to ensure the ongoing

         15  provision of quality non-institutional long-term

         16  care to the Medicaid-eligible disabled and frail

         17  elderly population of New York City.

         18                 Thank you for allowing me this

         19  opportunity to testify.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         21  Commissioner.

         22                 Deputy Commissioner Resnick.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: Good

         24  afternoon, Chairs Arroyo and DeBlasio, and members

         25  of the Committees on General Welfare and Aging. My
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          2  name is Caryn Resnick and I'm the Deputy

          3  Commissioner of the Department for the Aging.

          4                 I'm here today to present testimony

          5  regarding the Department for the Aging's Expanded

          6  In-home Care Services for the Elderly Program or

          7  EISEP.

          8                 The State of New York established the

          9  EISEP Program in 1987 to target the frail elderly

         10  who do not require the level of care provided in

         11  long-term care facilities, and who are not Medicaid

         12  eligible.

         13                 The program has two components: Case

         14  management and home care services that are funded

         15  with a combination of State and City tax levy

         16  dollars.

         17                 Currently the City contributes $9.9

         18  million for case management, and $13.8 million for

         19  home care, while the State contributes $7 million

         20  for case management and $6.6 million for home care.

         21                 DFTA has 32 case management contracts

         22  totaling 17.2 million and 24 home care contracts

         23  that total 20.5 million.

         24                 Before home care services are

         25  provided to a senior citizen, a needs assessment is

                                                            27

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2  conducted by a case management agency. Case

          3  management agencies then develop service plans for

          4  each client based on the needs assessment

          5  evaluation.

          6                 As a result of the needs assessment

          7  protocol, the level of service varies among clients.

          8  Some clients, for example, need assistance with

          9  light house cleaning, shopping, or with medical

         10  and/or social service appointments. Other clients,

         11  however, may need more personal attention; that is,

         12  assistance in bathing, grooming or eating.

         13                 Home care services are provided on

         14  average for 12 to 20 hours per week. Clients are

         15  required to share the cost of services. The New York

         16  State Office for the Aging determines the cost share

         17  rate for home care services based on the client's

         18  income. The EISEP threshold is approximately 150

         19  percent of the federal poverty guidelines to 2006.

         20                 Further, home care providers are

         21  reimbursed for services based on the State-approved

         22  Medicare rate of the respective home care provider

         23  when calculating the client cost-share rate.

         24                 For those home care agencies that do

         25  not have the Medicaid rate, the case management
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          2  agency must use the Medicaid caps to calculate the

          3  client cost-share rate.

          4                 Medicaid caps are $17.01 for

          5  housekeeping, and $14.99 for personal care. All

          6  services provided by the case management agency are

          7  free of charge to the client.

          8                 DFTA case management agencies can

          9  also authorize emergency home care services.

         10  Emergency home care can be provided to seniors who

         11  have been assessed to need emergency care by

         12  specified DFTA case management agencies pending the

         13  implementation of a long-term home-care plan.

         14                 Services are also provided to seniors

         15  who are awaiting Medicaid Services. Emergency home

         16  care can also be provided to benefit a care giver

         17  where the DFTA care giver contractor determines that

         18  the caregiver of an eligible care recipient has an

         19  emergency and needs short-term coverage by a home

         20  care worker.

         21                 For example, this type of emergency

         22  home care may be provided if the caregiver has their

         23  own emergency medical needs or must tend to the

         24  emergency needs of someone other than the care

         25  recipient.
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          2                 Finally, emergency home care can also

          3  be provided where hospital discharge workers

          4  determine that an eligible senior needs emergency

          5  coverage until a long-term home care worker is

          6  available.

          7                 Thank you very much for the

          8  opportunity to testify before you today, and we'll

          9  be happy to entertain any questions you may have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Now, let me ask each of you, just to

         13  get our numbers straight to begin with, Commissioner

         14  Hacker, you said approximately 80,000 individuals

         15  receiving home care services currently; is that

         16  right?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HACKER: That's

         18  correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: On an annual

         20  basis.

         21                 Commissioner Resnick, I didn't see a

         22  specific count in there. Can you give us a sense of

         23  how many people receive this service a year?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK:

         25  Approximately 4,000.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Four-thousand

          3  on the DFTA side, okay.

          4                 Now, are you familiar with the

          5  situation affecting the other workers who work for

          6  the agencies with which you contract?

          7                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

          8  Yes, for a contracting question, I would defer to

          9  our contracting expert we brought here.

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         11  Good afternoon, Chairman DeBlasio, Chairman Arroyo

         12  and other honorable members of these joint

         13  committees. My name is Saundra Glaves Morgan. I'm

         14  the Executive Deputy Commissioner of the Office Of

         15  Contracts of the Human Resources Administration. I'm

         16  also the Agency Chief Contracting Officer. I would

         17  ask you to repeat your question, please.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I wanted to see

         19  if you were aware of the situation facing home

         20  health aides who work for the same agencies which

         21  you contract for, the Home Attendant and

         22  Housekeeping Services?

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         24  I have no personal knowledge, but I am aware of some

         25  of the facts that you mentioned earlier.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, just

          3  so we understand, you know, I appreciate in this

          4  Administration, that there's a great deal of focus

          5  on the leadership of each agency in terms of

          6  providing guidance on how to handle each issue.

          7                 So, it's crucial that we start this

          8  discussion with the two agencies that are

          9  immediately involved.

         10                 Are you familiar with the situation

         11  facing these home health aides, including the fact

         12  that they're paid minimum wage or just slightly

         13  above minimum wage, that they get no paid sick

         14  leave, no vacation time, no holidays? Are those

         15  basic facts something that you're familiar with?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         17  I have no personal knowledge, since these are not

         18  agencies that the Human Resources Administration

         19  contracts with. But I have read the newspapers and

         20  understand some of that information is correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And you would

         22  agree that's a different wage scale then that which

         23  is provided for the workers who are working for the

         24  agencies under City contract?

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:
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          2  It is a different wage scale, that is correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And a

          4  significantly lesser wage scale.

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          6  Possibly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I think

          8  that's numerical that you're talking about. Minimum

          9  wage versus the wage scale on the living wage law,

         10  which also provides an additional allowance for

         11  health benefits, I think you could agree that

         12  percentage-wise that's a pretty significant

         13  difference.

         14                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         15  The Living Wage Law, as you know, Council Member

         16  DeBlasio, was passed by this City Council, the New

         17  York City Council, and so the Human Resources

         18  Administration is in compliance with the Living Wage

         19  Law.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes. I guess

         21  I'm speaking to you in terms of your profession now,

         22  since you're an expert in contracting, that you

         23  would agree the difference between 6.75 and 10.50 an

         24  hour, plus the 1.50 health allowance is a

         25  substantial difference -- I'm sorry, 9.50 an hour
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          2  plus the 1.50 health allowance is a substantial

          3  difference in wages.

          4                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

          5  Are you looking for me to agree with you?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I guess.

          7                 Well, I mean, it's to a point. The

          8  point is, again, since you are the agencies that

          9  best understand these workers and the work they do,

         10  then you are the agencies to whom the Mayor and his

         11  team will be looking for direction on this issue.

         12                 And I think it's crucial that we

         13  understand if you agree that there's a substantial

         14  difference in the wage levels, because that is one

         15  of the bases of the concern we have over what the

         16  City is not doing to address this issue, and

         17  obviously the fact that this issue could lead to a

         18  strike, which will have a huge impact on tens of

         19  thousands of New Yorkers at a minimum.

         20                 So, I'm trying to understand, do you

         21  think that this is a significant difference in

         22  wages, and if you're being asked for advice from the

         23  Mayor's Office, are you going to say, hey, this is

         24  something you should be aware of that there's a real

         25  difference in the wage levels here.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          3  Okay, well, there's a couple of things here. One is

          4  that I am prepared to discuss HRA's contracts;

          5  however, what you're asking for is conjecture, and,

          6  you know, the Law Department has advised the City

          7  agencies against taking certain positions at this

          8  time until these things are aired out and go through

          9  the proper channels.

         10                 In fact, I brought along one of my

         11  lawyers to actually explain this to you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We're just

         13  having a friendly chat here. You didn't need to

         14  bring along a lawyer.

         15                 Please introduce yourself.

         16                 MR. GEORGE: Mr. Chairman, my name is

         17  James George, and I'm Deputy General Counsel for HRA

         18  contracts, and I just wanted to read a statement

         19  from the Law Department as to our position on City

         20  procurements. And it is that the City cannot use its

         21  procurements as a vehicle for seeking to improve the

         22  wages and benefits of employees that are not working

         23  on our contracts.

         24                 As the Court of Appeals has just

         25  explained in its ruling striking the Equal Benefits
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          2  Law, the Competitive Bidding Statute reflects a

          3  judgment by the State Legislature that

          4  municipalities must give business to the lowest

          5  responsible bidder, whether the bidder's benefit

          6  plans meet the municipality's idea of fairness or

          7  not.

          8                 So, that's what we're bound by, the

          9  General Municipal Law, and the requirement for

         10  competitive bidding.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, sir, I'm

         12  not a lawyer but I want to make a common-sense

         13  point. In fact, it sounds to me like we're not

         14  talking about exactly the issue that was dealt with

         15  in that court case. We're talking about the City's

         16  leadership on a policy level. We're talking about

         17  the City's ability to leverage its other involvement

         18  with these firms.

         19                 We are not talking about the City

         20  determining to take a bidder that provided a higher

         21  bid. We're saying you obviously have a profound

         22  business relationship with these firms. They are

         23  dependent upon your business and they are pursuing a

         24  course of action that in the short term is against

         25  the City's interests and the citizenry's interest,
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          2  and could lead to a strike which would cause a

          3  crisis in our City.

          4                 So, why would it not be appropriate

          5  to use your leverage, as well as the leadership role

          6  the City should provide for all the citizens to say

          7  it's unacceptable for these firms to continue to

          8  provide poverty wages. And I just want to note,

          9  these are poverty wages literally. People who get

         10  this wage level qualify for food stamps, qualify for

         11  Medicaid, you go down the list, this is not even in

         12  the eyes of the government an acceptable wage level.

         13                 MR. GEORGE: Well, Mr. Chairman, the

         14  only thing that we can address, Ms. Glaves Morgan

         15  and myself, is our City contracts, our agency

         16  contracts. And to that extent we certainly adhere to

         17  the Living Wage Bill and require that our

         18  contractors adhere to it for those services that

         19  we're contracting for.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, here is

         21  the point -- okay, my fellow chair has asked for a

         22  repeat of that answer, please.

         23                 MR. GEORGE: What I said, Madam Chair,

         24  was that to the extent that we contract for services

         25  and that's what we can address here, HRA adheres to
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          2  the Living Wage Law and requires that its

          3  contractors in providing services to our clients,

          4  must adhere to that living wage law, and pay their

          5  employees, who are delivering services to our

          6  client, the living wage.

          7                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

          8  And the home health aides are not a contracted

          9  entity. They don't work for contracted entities with

         10  whom we work. So, it's really outside the scope of

         11  our authority at this point to be able to entertain

         12  this conversation, there are much larger

         13  conversations that would need to be had in the City

         14  of New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, first of

         16  all, I just want to make sure we're on the same

         17  page.

         18                 They work for the same firms with

         19  which you contract for different services, would you

         20  agree with that statement?

         21                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         22  For different services I think. That's important.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think I said

         24  that respectfully. I think I said that very clearly

         25  and repetitively in my opening. We fully understand
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          2  this is not the work that you contract for directly

          3  that is covered by the Living Wage Law, we

          4  understand that.

          5                 This is other work that you don't

          6  contract for that is the same exact firms. In the

          7  real world, and you're professional people who have

          8  achieved a lot or you wouldn't have the senior

          9  titles you have today. In the real world, if you're

         10  holding a substantial amount, tens of millions of

         11  dollars in contracting capacity over the heads of a

         12  firm, they're going to want to work with you and you

         13  are the pertinent place to begin this discussion.

         14  You're absolutely right if you say ultimately down

         15  the hall on the Mayor's side they have to make the

         16  final decision on these matters, I couldn't agree

         17  more. This Mayor has shown very clearly that he

         18  listens carefully to what his agencies believe. So,

         19  you're the experts on this type of work, on these

         20  type of workers, these type of agencies.

         21                 Let me ask it a different way. Have

         22  you ever looked at the impact it's had on the

         23  workers who do work under the contracts you have and

         24  get the living wage, have you ever looked at what

         25  it's meant for them to have additional wage as
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          2  opposed to these other home health aides who don't

          3  get that wage level?

          4                 Again, that's super pertinent to the

          5  work of your agency, the quality of the workers you

          6  have, what impact wage levels have on their work, on

          7  their stability, on their health levels, have you

          8  looked at that and what it means for the City?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         10  I have no personal knowledge.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, let me

         12  take it back to the Deputy Commissioners. I think

         13  this is not the contracting piece now. I'm asking

         14  you now, in terms of your professional work in this

         15  field, have you had any occasion to look into the

         16  issue of what the wage levels received by these

         17  workers mean for the quality of the work, for the

         18  quality care the patients, for the ability to retain

         19  the workers, for the health levels of the workers,

         20  even with the contracts you have and the workers who

         21  work under the contracts you have currently, the

         22  housekeeping and the attendance, have you ever

         23  looked at what's happened since we went to Living

         24  Wage Law, for example?

         25                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:
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          2  You know, as we said in our testimony, we have many

          3  programs to look at to make sure that we monitor the

          4  quality of care received by our consumers, and we

          5  have monitored that continuously. We're very proud

          6  of the monitoring efforts that we do.

          7                 I'm not aware of a specific study

          8  that looks at this aspect of how workers are paid

          9  and how it impacts the quality of care, but we

         10  certainly monitor very carefully the quality of care

         11  received by the consumers that we're responsible

         12  for.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you have any

         14  anecdotal sense that it's had any impact with the

         15  workers since Living Wage Law was passed, under the

         16  contracted services, that those workers' situation

         17  has changed in any way? Has that been something

         18  that's been an issue within the agency in any way?

         19                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         20  I can't give you any anecdotes, no.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All I can say,

         22  I'm going to turn to my fellow chair here, you know,

         23  I understand everyone has to be careful in this

         24  work, but I just want to say, this is what you do

         25  all day, and I would think you would have some sense
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          2  of what it means that people now have a

          3  substantially different wage.

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          5  HRA takes very good care of the people who we serve.

          6  We do. Our Home Care Program is among the best in

          7  the country. HRA's program. We're not authorized to

          8  provide services outside of the scope that we're

          9  authorized to do so.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I understand,

         11  and that's why I directed the question to the Deputy

         12  Commissioners, because I do think it's much more

         13  about policy than contracting here.

         14                 If we believe, let's just take it

         15  away from the specifics for a moment. If you

         16  believed it was a mission of the City to ensure that

         17  workers providing this type of crucial service got

         18  the best possible wage, because that's the right

         19  thing to do because that's better for the workers

         20  and their families, that's better for the taxpayer,

         21  because you've seen it improves the quality of the

         22  care the client receives. These are policy issues

         23  too, and I would think agencies that are on the

         24  front line of this work would have a view on whether

         25  in fact people getting better wages and benefits to
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          2  do this work improves the quality of the service, or

          3  improves any other outcome.

          4                 That's what I'm trying to get at. I'm

          5  not asking you to cross a legal line. I'm not saying

          6  what is your professional opinion on what it means

          7  for people to get a better wage for people to do

          8  this work?

          9                 Because right now I'm sure you

         10  consider it very, very important work. This is your

         11  profession too, and up until now it's been treated

         12  as the lowest type of low wage work there is in our

         13  City, so much so that people could go on food stamps

         14  and everything else while simultaneously doing this

         15  work.

         16                 So, I'm asking once again, and then

         17  I'll turn it to my fellow chair, do you have a

         18  policy view on whether it should be a priority to

         19  ensure that workers doing this type of work get

         20  higher wages and better benefits?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: I think

         22  the reason that there is hesitancy is that there

         23  hasn't been any formal study to tie the increase in

         24  wage to performance. But one can only make an

         25  assumption that you would be correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'll take that.

          3  Okay.

          4                 Chair Arroyo.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Thank you.

          6                 Performance notwithstanding, I think

          7  motivation has a lot to do with how well anyone

          8  performs their job, but six whatever an hour is a

          9  problem for the people who do this work.

         10                 So, I don't think we need a study to

         11  tell us that that's a problem, and I think that

         12  that's what we're here discussing.

         13                 I have two questions, and I

         14  appreciate that you need to be very careful with

         15  what you say, and to piggy-back on my co-chair's

         16  line of questioning, is there any discussion going

         17  on in both agencies with DFTA and HRA about dealing

         18  with the issue of the wages that workers are being

         19  paid, and how that gets tied to the contracting

         20  process?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         22  Could you state which workers?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: I am not going to

         24  play semantics with you. I am asking a very direct

         25  question about the issue of wage.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          3  Are you talking about home health aides?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Which are the

          5  ones that are making six something an hour? You and

          6  I both know who they are. So, let's not go back and

          7  forth on it.

          8                 I am asking a very simple question.

          9  Is there any discussion in the Administration or

         10  with the two agencies regarding how wages that these

         11  workers are paid, and how that is going to be tied

         12  into the contracting process with the City agencies?

         13  That's all I'm asking.

         14                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         15  Currently at HRA there is no discussion.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: DFTA?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: Again,

         18  it's not an issue of semantics, it's really an issue

         19  of oversight. And for those agencies we contract

         20  with, we care very deeply about being paid the

         21  living wage, and we assure that they are being paid

         22  the living wage.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Absolutely. The

         24  ones that you contract with directly, I think that

         25  there are other services that the City is
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          2  contracting for, for which we pay millions of

          3  dollars a year to these three particular service

          4  providers, who are the ones that are engaging in the

          5  practices that we are here discussing today.

          6                 So I think we need to bring ourselves

          7  above the back and forth and get into a discussion

          8  about what are we going to do about that? That's

          9  what we're here to discuss.

         10                 So, you know, in my mind this should

         11  be a very short hearing. We should be discussing how

         12  we are going to move forward as a City, controlling

         13  the millions of dollars that these three particular

         14  agencies make, and using that as leverage. Because

         15  although they obviously are the lowest bidders, and

         16  I'm going to talk to the lawyer now, they're making

         17  a ton of money. So, they're not -- we need to get

         18  past the issue of whether there are low-bidder or

         19  responsible bidder, and speak to that they're

         20  bidding, obviously they can afford the contracts,

         21  because they're not losing money. Why are they not

         22  paying better wages, and I think that that's a

         23  discussion we as a City need to engage in with these

         24  agencies.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:
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          2  Before you talk to our lawyer, there are a couple of

          3  points.

          4                 One is that when the City puts out a

          5  procurement for certain types of services, we're

          6  asking a vendor to provide those services, and the

          7  services that we asked these vendors that provide

          8  home care services at HRA to provide, were for

          9  personal care services, which Deputy Commissioner

         10  Hacker has already stated those services are.

         11                 For us, the City, to engage in a

         12  contract with anyone, whether it's a for-profit or

         13  not-for-profit, and they provide the service and we

         14  don't pay them, for services to very frail fragile

         15  clients, like the type who receive these home care

         16  services, which is to me the type of leverage that

         17  you're talking about, would be an egregious act and

         18  would have us in court, and who would want to do

         19  business with us if we didn't make payment on our

         20  contracts when a vendor provides the services.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: I didn't suggest

         22  that.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         24  Please, Councilwoman.

         25                 So, I struggle with what you're
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          2  proposing. That's what I'm trying to say.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: No. You and I

          4  have just absolutely misunderstood each other,

          5  because I'm not sure what it is that you're

          6  referencing.

          7                 I'm asking the question, is there any

          8  discussion at the DFTA HRA level with the

          9  administration about how the contracting process can

         10  help address the issue of these three entities, in

         11  particular, having them improve the wages that they

         12  pay their workers. That's the question.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         14  Then I'll give you back to my lawyer.

         15                 MR. GEORGE: Madam Chairman, again --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Chairperson.

         17                 MR. GEORGE: Chairperson. Thank you. I

         18  stand corrected.

         19                 To the extent that we're letting

         20  contracts, we are guided by the procurement laws and

         21  part of that is that we cannot use procurements as a

         22  vehicle to improve the wages of the employees that

         23  are not delivering services to us under those

         24  contracts. That seems to be where you're heading

         25  with this, and we're constrained legally not to do
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          2  that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: So what do we

          4  have to do to change that?

          5                 MR. GEORGE: Well, we're constrained

          6  now by the General Municipal Law, which says we must

          7  look at the vendor who is delivering the services,

          8  the services to be delivered, and if they're a

          9  responsible vendor, for those services to our

         10  clients, we have to go with the lowest bidder.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Okay, I don't

         12  want to belabor the point. I think that, Mr.

         13  Co-chair, that's precisely the line of questioning

         14  that we need to pursue at a different level.

         15                 Obviously these incredible

         16  professionals are not the individuals that we need

         17  to have that conversation with.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 I'd now like to turn to some of my

         21  colleagues who have questions.

         22                 I'd also like to welcome Council

         23  Member Helen Diane Foster of the Bronx.

         24                 The first question will be from

         25  Council Member Gale Brewer.
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          2                 I'm sorry, where is Sara? Oh, and

          3  Council Member Sara Gonzalez from Brooklyn.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          5  much, Chairs.

          6                 My question is the following: I have

          7  been around human services for a very long time, and

          8  I think I know, you know, there are some very loaded

          9  words, "privatization," "outsourcing," they always

         10  don't mean exactly what they say. And years ago we

         11  talked about privatization and it really meant, when

         12  it first came into being on a large scale it meant

         13  actually contracting often human services with the

         14  non-profit community. And it sounded strange because

         15  when you hear private, you think it's a private

         16  company.

         17                 I do remember when the first

         18  for-profit home care agencies were contracted with

         19  with the City, and so my question is, when did that

         20  happen? When was the for-profit home care? And of

         21  your 75 agencies that were mentioned I think by HRA,

         22  that you have 75 home care vendors, I don't know if

         23  DFTA is subsumed in that or if you have additional

         24  agencies.

         25                 The reason I ask is, what percentage
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          2  of those are for-profit and what percentage are

          3  non-profit?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: We have

          5  to consult on the year that the first for-profit

          6  became a Department for the Aging vendor.

          7                 We have a great deal of overlap in

          8  vendors between HRA and DFTA, although there are

          9  some that are different. And of our -- how many?

         10  Twelve? How many vendors do we have? Twenty-four

         11  contracts and we have two vendors that are

         12  for-profit vendors.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, I

         14  assume that maybe it's the same percentage or

         15  something like that? There are three mentioned here,

         16  Best Care, Personal Touch, and Prestige that are

         17  for-profit. I assume within the 75 it's probably a

         18  small number of for-profit. Why do we need to

         19  continue to contract with the for-profit? That's the

         20  problem.

         21                 And the reason I say that is, as

         22  somebody who has, as I indicated, been in the human

         23  services world for a very long time, I never thought

         24  the two mixed well. And the question is, is there

         25  some way that we could change legislation so that
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          2  you're only contracting with the non-profit?

          3                 My question is, would you then have

          4  enough workers? I assume that you would. And how

          5  would that change the dynamics? Would that be

          6  possible?

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          8  I think that the answer to the question is very

          9  complicated, and that's why I hesitate.

         10                 You said we have 75 providers. I'll

         11  take your word for that. We have 95 home care

         12  contracts within the Human --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's in your

         14  testimony, HRA's.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         16  Yes, we have 95 contracts total for home care

         17  services.

         18                 The year that for-profits started

         19  doing business with the City, I can't give you that

         20  exact date now, and I would want to be exact. So,

         21  we'll get back to you with that date.

         22                 One of the things that the General

         23  Municipal Law requires, and that's a State law, is

         24  that we have competition for all goods and services,

         25  and so as a result, I think that it's the idea of
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          2  having competition, especially when you have a vast

          3  portfolio, like the one that HRA does, for 95

          4  contracts that cover the entire City of New York.

          5                 Whether or not removing for-profits

          6  from the equation would be problematic, I can't

          7  answer that. I don't think that there's enough data.

          8  But I would say that it is good to have as much

          9  competition as you can. I think it keeps everybody

         10  honest. I think that if you look at, in terms of the

         11  evaluation of our for-profit vendors, they provide

         12  as good a service as the not-for-profits, in terms

         13  of the client services.

         14                 So, I can't answer your total

         15  question, but that would, I think, be the answer to

         16  the question to this point without further closer

         17  study.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I don't

         19  want to continue because I know time is of the

         20  essence. But I just want to point out that that's

         21  what's wrong with these words privatization and

         22  outsourcing. Because privatization sometimes makes

         23  one think when you're competing between non-profits

         24  that we're not competing.

         25                 Of course we're competing. The
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          2  non-profit community has grown tremendously. So,

          3  when you're competing for food delivery contracts,

          4  et cetera, or any kind of service for clients in the

          5  City of New York, there's tons of competition.

          6  Obviously, if DFTA indicates that they have 24

          7  contracts and two of them are for-profit, that means

          8  that 22 of them are not-profit and they're all

          9  competing.

         10                 So, I just want to make the point,

         11  chairs, that I do think that this is something to

         12  look at. I do remember it was a Queens pilot,

         13  southeast Queens, when the for-profit first started.

         14  I think I was around here, and I remember tremendous

         15  concern at that time. Because there is something off

         16  balance, I'll use that word, when the for-profit

         17  community is participating in what I believe should

         18  be a not-for-profit service.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         21  Lappin.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 I just wanted to echo what Council

         25  Member Brewer said, and I take exception to the
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          2  concept that this would provide healthy competition.

          3  Of course they're going to be able to give you lower

          4  bids, they're not treating their workers properly.

          5  And I'm not talking about the home health aides that

          6  you don't contract with, but the home attendants

          7  that you do.

          8                 If you have three really bad

          9  offenders, and if they were here today I'd ask them

         10  how they'd like to spend Christmas or Yom Kipur with

         11  their family, if they get to stay home with one of

         12  their children when they're sick from school, if

         13  they can take vacation time during the summer and

         14  not be severely punished financially for doing that.

         15  To not have sick leave, and to not have vacation

         16  time, and to not have, you know, those to me are

         17  basic, basic workers' rights, and not to be able to

         18  unionize.

         19                 So, if they're denying those workers

         20  those rights, then they're going to give you a lower

         21  bid, and I don't think that's healthy competition.

         22                 So, I just would ask, and not to have

         23  it answered today, but to ask you to go back and

         24  really look for the services you provide, why you

         25  have to contract with these bad agents.
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          2                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

          3  I know you don't want an answer right now, but I'd

          4  just like to say this, that all of HRA's vendors pay

          5  living wage to their home attendants.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And I'm not

          7  talking about that. I'm talking about health

          8  insurance and vacation time and paid sick leave.

          9  Because we all enjoy that as City workers, and the

         10  workers who are in this room should have the same

         11  right.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         14  White.

         15                 Sorry, let me just interrupt and say

         16  let me welcome Council Member Jimmy Vacca of the

         17  Bronx.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         21  White.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you,

         23  Chairs.

         24                 I used to serve on the Aging

         25  Committee some years back, and maybe I can zero in
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          2  and not be as exact, and I understand not being

          3  exact as to when this started. In the mid-'90s,

          4  under the Chair of Julia Harrison of the Aging

          5  Committee, all of the, or most of the

          6  not-for-profits, the contracts for the home

          7  attendants went out for bids, and when they came

          8  back, dealing in my area in Jamaica, Jamaica Senior

          9  Citizens for Older Adults, JSCOA, they were edged

         10  out by Personal Touch. There were three categories,

         11  a number of categories, and one of the main

         12  categories in terms of that we asked was, who had

         13  the best rapport with the clients they were serving,

         14  because the bonding of a health care provider with

         15  the person they're taking care of is a very

         16  important issue to deal with.

         17                 And we found out that the bids went

         18  to all of those for-profit agencies that had very

         19  strong administrative skills. And they operated from

         20  what we call the top down, and that is to look at

         21  the profit margin and things of that nature.

         22                 So, it started in the '90s. Also, I

         23  would like to ask, are you aware of what the

         24  population of the citizenry of New York City is

         25  going to be as it relates to aging and their needs
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          2  in the next ten years?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: Yes.

          4  Yes, you're referring to the age boom --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: -- When

          7  those like me are going to be retired.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Like maybe 60

          9  to 65 percent of those living in New York City will

         10  meet the category of receiving services from

         11  Department of the Aging; am I correct?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay, now we

         14  don't have that money; is that correct? So, if we

         15  don't have the money, then we're not prepared and we

         16  haven't planned, okay? We really haven't planned to

         17  really take care of the major population that's

         18  going to be residents in the City of New York, and I

         19  think that's where we really are on one side of the

         20  ledger.

         21                 On the other side of the ledger, and

         22  I'll address this to you and you can defer to your

         23  attorney, is under the contracts, now that might

         24  have changed since I took my little vacation, the

         25  Procurement Policy Board, they have a number of ways
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          2  to contract. They have sole source contracting, and

          3  they have competitive bidding.

          4                 Now, within the framework of the

          5  competitive bidding process, when you let out your

          6  RFPs, you set the tone of what's going to be in that

          7  RFP. Whatever the criteria, the guidelines, what's

          8  expected, et cetera. And granted, you probably can't

          9  make a profit-making agency pay benefits, but in

         10  terms of scoring, the RFPs that's submitted, I think

         11  you would maybe lean a little bit more towards the

         12  non-for-profits or the profits that are offering

         13  fringe benefits to the workers, as opposed to those

         14  who are not. I think that would be in the purview of

         15  a selection process; would it not be?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         17  Again, two points.

         18                 One is, you are correct, the

         19  Procurement Policy Board rules promulgates laws that

         20  state how we should go out and compete for services.

         21                 With regard to the Home Care Services

         22  Program run by HRA, we put out a request for

         23  proposals, and we set forth the kinds of terms and

         24  conditions that we would want for service provision.

         25                 Now, one of the things I just want to
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          2  state for the record, and I want to be very careful

          3  to say it because it's important, HRA contractors

          4  are required to provide home attendants with a

          5  benefit package that includes for-profits and

          6  not-for-profits at a level comparable to that

          7  offered by not-for-profit home care agencies

          8  collective bargaining agreements, which include at a

          9  minimum health benefits not requiring employee

         10  contribution, other than a modest co-payment of up

         11  to ten dollars for medical services, including

         12  medical, hospitalization, and surgical services to

         13  the employee and immediate family members, and

         14  pension benefit not requiring employee contribution

         15  and sick leave and vacation.

         16                 So, these things are provided for for

         17  the home attendants who provide services to the

         18  clients that HRA serves.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: The same

         20  is essentially true for DFTA, there is very specific

         21  language written into our RFP and subsequently in

         22  the contract that makes those requirements of both

         23  the profit and the not-for-profit, and I think,

         24  again, the discussion we're having today is what

         25  happens to those workers that are not covered by
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          2  City contract and are in fact covered by the State

          3  Department of Health and what they're held

          4  accountable to, which is apparently a different

          5  study.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay, I'm

          7  asking this, and I spoke to the Chairs,

          8  unfortunately I have two meetings at the same time,

          9  but this is very dear to me, because my mother is 85

         10  plus, okay? And I lover her very dearly, and I

         11  understand the contribution she has made toward

         12  raising her son, and all I'm saying to you, and I

         13  said this the last time I was in the City Council,

         14  there is one thing that from a principle stand point

         15  of view, this isn't political, that I owe and that

         16  is, I owe my mother, I owe those individuals that

         17  helped build this City and this country, an

         18  obligation to where they wouldn't have to come down

         19  to City Hall, the State House or the White House to

         20  beg for benefits that they worked so hard and

         21  deserve, and part of that benefit is not maid

         22  service, but quality health care service.

         23                 I'm saying that to say this: It's

         24  easy to point fingers, but I think at some given

         25  point we're going to have to deal with this
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          2  population, and we're going to have to deal with it

          3  fairly, because quality of health care means people

          4  are living longer, and not only that, health care is

          5  going up.

          6                 Now, when you have workers that can't

          7  even afford to get sick, that can't even afford to

          8  go in the hospital, and you want them to take care

          9  of something else, something is wrong with the

         10  system and we have to fix it.

         11                 So, what I'm asking, and I want to

         12  thank the Chairs for having this joint meeting, and

         13  what I want to ask you, because we should not be

         14  adversaries at this goal. So, what I want to ask you

         15  and what I want to ask the Chairperson, what I'm

         16  asking the Mayor is, come on, let's get together and

         17  take care of those people that have invested so much

         18  to allow us to be sitting here today in these

         19  chairs, and let's stick together.

         20                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         21  I'd just like to say that HRA certainly agrees that

         22  quality of care to our consumers is of the utmost

         23  importance, which is why we have such a strict

         24  quality monitoring program that both for-profit and

         25  not-for-profit agencies are required to adhere to,
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          2  and that we monitor very carefully consumer

          3  satisfaction levels, complaint levels and that the

          4  for-profit agencies operate at a rate very

          5  comparable to the not-for-profit agencies. If they

          6  didn't, we wouldn't continue to contract with them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Well, that's

          8  really not the issue. What I'm really asking, what

          9  I'm really asking, and you have the lawyer there,

         10  what I'm really asking is, just, we have a problem

         11  and it's a we solution. So, it's a willingness to

         12  resolve. Are we willing to resolve this issue

         13  together? Or are we going to be adverse to resolving

         14  it?

         15                 I don't really have the answer, but I

         16  do have the desire and the willingness to work to

         17  take care of the workers that are going to be taking

         18  care of my mother.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to

         20  follow up on one of the points raised by Council

         21  Member White before some of our other colleagues go

         22  on with their questions. And this is a contracting

         23  question, so I have preceded my own peril here.

         24                 But you mention the RFP process, are

         25  all of the contracts that you have with these

                                                            63

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2  agencies entered into pursuant to RFPs?

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          4  For home care services, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All of them?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          7  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, nothing is

          9  specifically negotiated?

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         11  No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         13                 Let me turn now to Council Member

         14  Kendall Stewart.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry,

         18  Council member, just hold it one second. I didn't

         19  know if that was an answer for both HRA and DFTA.

         20  Let me just clarify that.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Both agencies

         23  only RFPs.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Sorry, Council
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          2  Member Stewart. Go ahead.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just want

          4  to go back to a couple of things that were said and

          5  I wonder if there's some clarity.

          6                 First of all, we have about 35,000

          7  home health aides, and these folks are registered

          8  with agencies; isn't that so? And these are the

          9  agencies that you contract with, or some of them,

         10  you contract with to do, with the contracts to do

         11  services for folks in the City.

         12                 My question basically is this: Do you

         13  really monitor the agencies to see exactly who works

         14  for these agencies? Or you just monitor, as you

         15  said, the care and complainant services?

         16                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         17  We do the background checks required of all workers

         18  working in the home attendant program that HRA is

         19  responsible for. Is that the question?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, I am

         21  looking, if you contract with an agency, you are

         22  contracting with an agency to provide a service, but

         23  I want to know if, based on your payment, if you

         24  look to see who is really providing the service, if

         25  you have the information, because some of those
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          2  workers, the same agency employ people who they pay

          3  a different salary. The same agency may have a

          4  two-tier system. And I want to know if you monitor,

          5  because if for some reason a worker might be doing

          6  your job, is ill, or might be absent, they send

          7  somebody else, is that person who they send getting

          8  the same salary, because they have a two-tier

          9  system? And I just want to know if you are

         10  monitoring the agencies that you contract with to

         11  see if there is any changes?

         12                 We say that basically that we have a

         13  law now that folks are supposed to follow, whoever

         14  you contract with you have to follow through with

         15  that law.

         16                 However, we have agencies who are not

         17  really binded by that law in some sense because of

         18  the fact that all of their employees may not be

         19  working with you.

         20                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         21  We do have a fiscal monitoring aspect as well, and

         22  we do monitor compliance with the Living Wage Law.

         23  So to the extent employees work under our contracts

         24  and are subject to the Living Wage Law, we work to

         25  ensure that they comply with that law. We don't of
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          2  course do all their employees, only the employees

          3  involved in our contracts.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So what you

          5  are saying, that at no time can a worker working for

          6  an agency be sent to a job that you might be, the

          7  patient might be one of your patients, that are

          8  being sent to that job and they are being paid the

          9  low wages?

         10                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         11  Well, there are two different services that you're

         12  talking about. The services provided by home health

         13  aid are different from the services that are

         14  provided by our home attendants, and we pay for the

         15  services for which we contract.

         16                 So, there is a payment methodology

         17  that's worked out with the State for payment of our

         18  home attendants, and the home health aides are paid

         19  a fee for service, and they are paid directly by the

         20  state. The agencies are paid by the state to provide

         21  those services.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: In the case

         23  of the folks that are being paid a little above

         24  minimum wage, are there any time that they be given

         25  anything with this agency that involves contracts
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          2  for the City?

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          4  Not to my knowledge.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Not to your

          6  knowledge. But I just want to make sure that they

          7  are not providing a service and being paid a

          8  different wage. And if you're monitoring the care, I

          9  think you should be monitoring who does the care.

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         11  We do for our clients.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Just for your

         13  clients.

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         15  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But the fact

         17  is what I'm saying is you're not there every day.

         18  And if by chance my mom, who might be getting care,

         19  the attendant is not there or may be ill, they send

         20  somebody else for that day or two, may not be

         21  someone who they pay this wage that we have

         22  contracted with you for, and that's what I'm looking

         23  at.

         24                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         25  We do monitor payroll registries to ensure that when
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          2  a worker is working on one of our contracts that

          3  they are paid the living wage.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Say that

          5  again.

          6                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

          7  We check the payroll registries to ensure that all

          8  employees working under, when they're working on an

          9  HRA contract are paid the living wage.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You check the

         11  registry.

         12                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         13  Payroll registry.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Payroll

         15  registry.

         16                 So, what you're saying is an honor

         17  system with the agency?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER RESNICK: No.

         19  Well, for the Department for the Aging there's a

         20  compliance issue with the agency, and in monitoring

         21  compliance you look not only at the programmatic

         22  side but the fiscal side, and so any worker on

         23  payroll has to be paid the living wage. They would

         24  be out of compliance if they were doing what you're

         25  suggesting.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Some of these

          3  workers are not being paid by you, they're paid by

          4  the agency, and getting an agency check anyone can

          5  be slipped in there. That's what I'm looking at.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          7  Are you making a specific allegation?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: No, I'm not

          9  making a specific allegation. All I'm saying, that I

         10  know folks who go to work for just a day, and they

         11  may not be getting that living wage salary. That's

         12  what I'm saying. And they work, sometimes the client

         13  might be your clients.

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         15  They're working for an HRA or a DFTA contractor who

         16  is providing services to an HRA or DFTA client?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: It may have

         18  been HRA or DFTA client, that's what I'm saying.

         19  Just at one day or two days.

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         21  Well, Council member, if you know of such a

         22  situation, you can write to me and I will deal with

         23  it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I'm just

         25  concerned about the fact that we should not have a
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          2  two-tiered system, and I'm just concerned about the

          3  fact that we have agencies that are making millions

          4  of dollars and they determine -- they can pay. They

          5  can pay the nine dollars and change, or even the,

          6  you know, the living wage salary when they know they

          7  have a contract with you. But they've seen it not

          8  fit to pay that salary when the person is not really

          9  being monitored by you.

         10                 So, I am just looking at that, and I

         11  feel that maybe there should be a way in which we

         12  look at the percentage or the amount of people that

         13  are working for these specific agencies, how many

         14  people are working with them, as to how they can

         15  maneuver their workers to make this big profit that

         16  they're making? That's what I'm looking at.

         17                 Mr. Chair, I'm still not clear on a

         18  number of issues here, and I think I will reserve

         19  some time to come back and ask some questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         21  Council Member. Now I'd like to turn to Council

         22  Member Foster.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         24  First let me apologize for being caught up in the

         25  Bronx. But the good thing about being late is there
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          2  is an air in here that I'm not happy with, and it's

          3  coming across as a we and they. I don't think that's

          4  the attitude that we should be having, because at

          5  the end of the day I would hope all of us in

          6  government are concerned with the people that work

          7  with government agencies, period.

          8                 It's just a lot of hot air and it's

          9  just an unnecessary attitude, and maybe something

         10  happened before I got here that is generating the

         11  attitude. And I'm not looking for applause, I'm

         12  saying this seriously. It's really unfortunate.

         13                 But that having been said, let me as

         14  an attorney ask the attorney a question.

         15                 You made a statement, and, again, I

         16  came in late so if I'm incorrect, you can clarify it

         17  for me. But you made a statement pointing to the

         18  current municipal law, and that it appears that it's

         19  kind of a shield that is preventing the agencies

         20  from doing what is the right thing to do because of

         21  this municipal law.

         22                 So, my question is, is there anything

         23  being done to lobby or change the municipal law that

         24  is preventing both agencies from contracting or

         25  doing it correctly? And I'm sorry, your name is?
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          2  Because she grabbed the mike, but I thought you were

          3  the attorney.

          4                 MR. GEORGE: I am.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Please don't

          6  respond to the crowd. I am not being funny. I am

          7  asking, I thought you were, correct, the attorney?

          8                 MR. GEORGE: Yes, Councilwoman.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And your name?

         10                 MR. GEORGE: James George.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay, Mr.

         12  George.

         13                 MR. GEORGE: The law that I referred

         14  to is a state law, the General Municipal Law. I'm

         15  not aware of efforts to change that particular law

         16  at this time. But that is, along with the

         17  Procurement Policy Board rules, along with the

         18  Charter provisions, what we in procurement world are

         19  bound by.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I understand

         21  that. But I'm pushing the envelope, and I understand

         22  that, what we're bound by, but is there anything

         23  being done? Because it appears from the testimony

         24  and the conversation that we're having that the law

         25  that we are bound by isn't working for everybody the
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          2  same way.

          3                 So, is there anything being done to

          4  address that?

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          6  And that's why I grabbed the microphone because I

          7  was going to answer your question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay. And your

          9  name is? I'm sorry.

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         11  Saundra Glaves Morgan. I am the Executive Deputy

         12  Commissioner for the Office of Contracts at HRA. I'm

         13  also the Agency Chief Contracting Officer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         16  And I'm also an attorney.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay, very

         18  good.

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         20  There is currently nothing at this time being done

         21  to change the General Municipal Law requirements for

         22  competitive contracting.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And in your

         24  position, and everything that you outlined as your

         25  position, do you feel that there is a need to make
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          2  some, you know, lobbying or something to change the

          3  Municipal Law at a state level?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          5  In terms of what HRA is currently doing? No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Well then,

          7  Co-chairs, I think therein lies the problem. Because

          8  I think in order to begin any dialogue, we have to

          9  acknowledge that there is an issue, and because one

         10  end of the table doesn't see it like an issue and is

         11  helping to generate this air in here, that lies --

         12  therein lies the problem, and maybe we need to take

         13  it up at another level, because clearly they're not

         14  here to address those issues that we find of

         15  concern.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         18  Council member.

         19                 Now, Council Member Sarah Gonzalez.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Good

         21  afternoon.

         22                 First of all, I did not hear the

         23  entire presentation, so I would just like to say

         24  that I'm going to speak about not a scenario but a

         25  real life situation.
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          2                 My dad has a home attendant. My dad

          3  is a veteran of World War II. My dad taught me to be

          4  who I am. And I cannot be there for him the way I

          5  would love to be. So I want to say to the

          6  Administration, that my dad has a wonderful home

          7  attendant, and she is deserving of vacation, time

          8  off. I watch her very carefully when I'm there. The

          9  love and the support that she gives my dad, who was

         10  so strong and today cannot walk, and so for me it's

         11  very important that we take care of the home

         12  attendant, who is going to be taking care of the

         13  people we love, or maybe us tomorrow.

         14                 So, for the Administration, I have

         15  always, my colleagues know, and I think you know,

         16  that I have always been an ambassador, a diplomat,

         17  and I work towards meeting you halfway. So, I say to

         18  you today, please let's have the willingness to look

         19  at how we pay, who we pay, and oversight as you

         20  said, in respect to your registry, so that these

         21  people who support our families, and I mean support

         22  by caring. Because I don't want to be watching that

         23  home attendant 24/7. I want to know that my father

         24  is going to be the best he can be.

         25                 So, I say to you, please let's have
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          2  the willingness to partner and look at how we can

          3  make some changes. That's all we're saying, because

          4  this is a democracy, and this is exactly what is

          5  happening here today, democracy. Two sides looking

          6  at different things. And we thank Chairman DeBlasio

          7  because this is an incredible hearing.

          8                 I love the Aging Committee, I have to

          9  say to Council Member Arroyo, because it says to me

         10  I can make a difference, and that I can make a

         11  point, and that I can listen and support people who

         12  work, as a union person most of my life, my parents

         13  -- (phone ringing), it's probably the home

         14  attendant.

         15                 I have to say to you that I support

         16  who work, but they deserve dignity, they deserve

         17  rights, they deserve fairness, and I think we are

         18  somewhere today, I believe in my role as Council

         19  Member, with the Administration, where we're

         20  listening to each other, and that's important to me.

         21                 So, I thank you, and I thank each and

         22  every person that's here. And again, let's come

         23  together with the willingness to say we have to make

         24  some changes. And if they're there, and we're not

         25  always going to be satisfied, but at least we're
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          2  going to work toward some changes, because that's

          3  all we need because I want to ensure that my father

          4  continues to have that home attendant that he loves.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

          7  Vacca.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Mr. Chair and

          9  Madam Chair, I'd like to thank you both for having

         10  this hearing. I come from a perspective where before

         11  I arrived here on the City Council on January 1st, I

         12  was President of a Senior Citizen Center in the

         13  Bronx for 30 years. Though I know I look much

         14  younger, but we had a great center, and we do have a

         15  great center. And it was my opportunity to serve,

         16  but I want you to know that what I think all of you

         17  do know, is that many people today are living to be

         18  older, but the key issue is that we live to be

         19  older, and by the way, someone born today will live

         20  to be 80.5 years old, I think a woman, 80.5 years

         21  old. But as we grow to live older, the main issue

         22  becomes quality of life. And home attendants to me

         23  are very, very important to quality of life for the

         24  senior citizen who needs help.

         25                 And I want to be supportive, I want
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          2  the agency and the Council to be open, to look at

          3  the situation with an open mind and try to be

          4  helpful and work cooperatively.

          5                 I'm aware of RFPs, and I wanted to

          6  ask, I know you have 32 case management contracts

          7  and 24 home care contracts -- I'm sorry. Yes, you.

          8                 I know you have 32 case management

          9  and 24 home care. Let me ask you, when you issued

         10  the RFP, what are the average length of time that an

         11  RFP is issued for? How long is the term, the average

         12  term that an agency is given to have a contract

         13  before they must go back for renewal?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Procedurally

         15  you need to come up to the microphone and introduce

         16  yourself because it all goes into the public record.

         17                 MS. RENERI: Good afternoon, Chairs.

         18  My name is Camille Reneri. I'm the ACCO at the

         19  Department for the Aging.

         20                 Our contracts, our RFPs are out on

         21  the street for approximately 50 days, and the home

         22  care falls under a category 2 contract which is for

         23  six years, or any combination after six years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Do you think

         25  that six years is a long period of time? I've dealt
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          2  with other RFPs in other City agencies. They usually

          3  run two to three years. I'm thinking of senior

          4  centers and DYCD, the length of time is a long

          5  period of time, no?

          6                 MS. RENERI: Well, it's any

          7  combination of six years, so we can do a one, two

          8  and a three and then single years, and then it's up

          9  to us if we're going to renew the contract based on

         10  their performance, funds and the like.

         11                 The maximum is six years.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: The maximum.

         13                 MS. RENERI: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: So after six

         15  years that agency can apply for another six years,

         16  another renewal?

         17                 MS. RENERI: We put out the RFP again,

         18  and if they're awarded the contract they can get a

         19  contract for up to six years. They could be

         20  terminated, of course, at any time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: And during that

         22  period the agency is subject to audit, review,

         23  evaluation?

         24                 MS. RENERI: Monitoring and the like.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: They're called
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          2  in?

          3                 MS. RENERI: Yes, they are. And

          4  they're constantly being reviewed. They're renewed

          5  as needed, and depending on their performance.

          6  Because the contract has to be renewed to continue

          7  up to the six years.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: When you

          9  evaluate a contract, and I read your evaluation

         10  tools in the memorandum before us, do you evaluate

         11  worker satisfaction, worker rights, how workers

         12  perceive their role and how their needs are being

         13  addressed by a contract agency?

         14                 MS. RENERI: I don't believe we do.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I have to say

         16  that in almost any other type of job, worker

         17  satisfaction is key. I would like you to look at

         18  your evaluation tool.

         19                 I also was district manager of a

         20  community board and I had a five-person staff, but

         21  if my staff wasn't happy, boy did I know it, and did

         22  I have to make sure that they were happy because

         23  they're being happy reflected on the kind of job

         24  they did.

         25                 I want the workers to be part of the
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          2  solution where if they're not happy and something is

          3  wrong, that should be an evaluation tool used when

          4  we give an evaluation to the contract agency.

          5                 MS. RENERI: We have a client

          6  evaluation that we do, of course, but not the

          7  worker.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Client

          9  evaluation is very important, absolutely. But I

         10  would like you to include a worker evaluation and a

         11  worker satisfaction component, and I would recommend

         12  that to your agency.

         13                 Have you ever terminated a contract

         14  due to dissatisfaction with the agency's

         15  performance?

         16                 MS. RENERI: Yes, we have, and we put

         17  them out for RFP again.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: You mean when

         19  their contract is up you --

         20                 MS. RENERI: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: You interrupt

         22  the contract?

         23                 MS. RENERI: If the need arises that

         24  there are problems or there's fiscal improprieties

         25  or there's something that came up that that
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          2  contractor should no longer be providing that

          3  service, we'll terminate the contract and put it up

          4  for RFP.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: If there are

          6  irregularities as you indicate, and I include in

          7  this violation of worker rights, do you refer that

          8  to the Inspector General of your agency?

          9                 MS. RENERI: Yes. I believe we do,

         10  yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: And you have

         12  referred such cases to the Inspector General?

         13                 MS. RENERI: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay, thank

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         17  Council Member.

         18                 I know Council Member Stewart had a

         19  follow-up.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair.

         22                 It is our understanding that Personal

         23  Touch, one of the agencies, has a $1.4 million

         24  contract with HRA to do training for home

         25  attendants; is this correct?
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          2                 It's correct. So, how many similar

          3  contracts do we have that exists out there in terms

          4  of the training?

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          6  One more.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: One more. So,

          8  what's the total? Do you know what that figure is?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         10  About twice the amount of the Personal Touch

         11  contract.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Twice the

         13  amount. So are you saying about another 2.8?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         15  Correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: For training,

         17  and this is training for workers.

         18                 How long has Personal Touch been

         19  conducting training for home attendants on similar

         20  contracts?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         22  About six years.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Six years.

         24  So, we're talking about six years, 1.4 times six, so

         25  you're talking about millions of dollars for
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          2  training for workers, right?

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          4  For training, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: For training.

          6                 How have the services they have

          7  provided been evaluated, in terms of the training,

          8  being evaluated?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         10  If you give me your question, I will get back to you

         11  on it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So you want

         13  these questions --

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         15  If you tell me now, we will answer your question and

         16  get back to you with the specifics.

         17                 I don't have it here.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: How often do

         19  you evaluate these services?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         21  We evaluate vendors every year.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Once a year?

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         24  Yes. Local Law requires us to evaluate them

         25  annually.
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          2                 HRA has over 600 vendors, so for me

          3  to be able to tell you how one vendor is doing right

          4  now is with great difficulty.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But do you

          6  see where I'm going with this? Because this is one

          7  of the companies that is making all this big money

          8  --

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         10  So, I will get back to you with the answer, Council

         11  member. I promise.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Mr. Chair,

         13  would you like to follow-up on this?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, not on

         15  this particular point. But thank you for the

         16  question. I think we'd very much like to know the

         17  extent of the financial involvement with Personal

         18  Touch beyond the direct services it provides. I

         19  think it's a very important issue Council Member

         20  Stewart has raised.

         21                 Let me also raise another concern. I

         22  want to take you back to the question about RFPs,

         23  because we literally have some contradictory

         24  information here, and I'd welcome any immediate

         25  answer, and anything you could come back to us with.
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          2                 We requested yesterday from the City

          3  Comptroller's Office a breakdown of the various

          4  contracts with some of these large agencies, and

          5  with each one they have provided an analysis, the

          6  contract number, which agency, what type of service,

          7  the date that the contract started on, the dollar

          8  figure and what type of contract it was. And in the

          9  case of Personal Touch, this document, again, we got

         10  this yesterday from the Comptroller's Office, shows

         11  home attendant services to a Medicaid E contract

         12  which was begun on July 1st, 2005, and is listed by

         13  the Comptroller's Office as a negotiated

         14  acquisition, not an RFP, and we also have a series

         15  of home care contracts for Personal Touch that were

         16  begun in 2004, all of them in July 2004, they're

         17  also all listed as negotiated acquisition, not RFP.

         18  Do you know why they would have that?

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         20  Yes, I do.

         21                 What happens is that the Human

         22  Resources Administration engage in RFPs. We do the

         23  renewals that were allowed under the contract, and

         24  then when we're in the process of doing new RFPs,

         25  sometimes we run out of time, and so therefore what
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          2  we have to do is we have to do a negotiated

          3  acquisition extension to be able to continue the

          4  services to our client until we can put a new

          5  selection of vendors in place.

          6                 So right now when you see negotiated

          7  acquisition they're not new negotiated acquisitions,

          8  they're negotiated acquisition extensions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, it's

         10  not an RFP per se, it's not a renewal, it's a bridge

         11  in effect.

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         13  Exactly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What's striking

         15  here is the length of time. The Medicaid E example

         16  is a one-year contract, and then in the case of some

         17  of these home care contracts that began July 1st,

         18  2004, they go all the way to June 30th, 2006.

         19                 So, isn't that unusual to have that

         20  long a period of time without going through a new

         21  RFP?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

         23  Council member, when we put out procurements for new

         24  vendors, we get a lot of competition, and we don't

         25  have a lot of people in the agency to read
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          2  proposals, and that's one of the problems in my job,

          3  and, so, therefore, the reading of proposals, the

          4  evaluating and scoring of the proposals takes an

          5  inordinate amount of time.

          6                 And then there is the process, as I'm

          7  sure you know, of the Procurement Policy Board rules

          8  and all the things that we have to do to put the

          9  contracts in place. So, it may seem like a lot of

         10  time, but it's not really a lot of time, in terms of

         11  what has to be done to put new contracts in place.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         13                 I want to just end on, with this

         14  panel, on what I think is the crucial issue facing

         15  us going forward.

         16                 Now, again, I want to raise this in a

         17  good faith spirit, and I think it would be very

         18  helpful to hear whatever answer you could give us

         19  now, and even more important that you bring this

         20  back to the leadership of your agencies and that

         21  they bring it forward to the Mayor's Office.

         22                 You know, again, this situation with

         23  the home health aides is reaching a crisis moment,

         24  because these workers are simply not able to make

         25  ends meet and there has been an open and ongoing
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          2  discussion of whether they will ultimately choose to

          3  go on strike. Now, that is not about the narrow

          4  question of you contracting with these same agencies

          5  for different services. This is a bigger policy

          6  question facing the City that will affect a lot of

          7  the same people that HRA and DFTA serve.

          8                 So, I'm not asking a contracting

          9  question. I'm not asking a legal question. I'm

         10  asking a policy question, and I want to know what

         11  the City's position is on the fact that we may be

         12  headed toward a strike, 35,000 workers, tens of

         13  thousands of clients affected; what is your thinking

         14  on this?

         15                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HACKER:

         16  Well, again, we're concerned with the consumers that

         17  we serve, and we have a number of situations,

         18  emergency kind of situations that can occur and we

         19  do require vendors to be able to meet those

         20  situations, you know, that can and have occurred,

         21  such as Transit strikes, snow storms, blackouts,

         22  emergency situations, and we do require them to have

         23  emergency plans in place and provide continuous

         24  services.

         25                 So, they have a variety of means they
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          2  might do that, but they are required to provide the

          3  services. We monitor that, and in these situations

          4  I've discussed, that we have, of course, experienced

          5  transit strikes, blackouts, they have performed well

          6  in providing those emergency services.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I respect

          8  that answer operationally, but I think respectfully

          9  you are comparing apples and orchards. The Transit

         10  strike was a few days. The effect of a blackout is a

         11  few days. You're talking a strike that could go on

         12  weeks, months, we have no idea. We do know that

         13  we're dealing with agencies that have been

         14  absolutely unresponsive throughout the whole

         15  process, that show very little interest in

         16  negotiating in good faith.

         17                 So, I'm asking you now, if you knew

         18  there was going to be a strike and it was going to

         19  adversely effect, again tens of thousands of the

         20  same people, the same type of people you serve,

         21  wouldn't it be good policy for the City to try and,

         22  whether you want to call it informally use it's good

         23  offices or use the leveraging power of its other

         24  contracts, shouldn't the City be engaging this issue

         25  now to stop something of this magnitude from
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          2  happening?

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          4  Well, I'm not going to have you talk to my lawyer.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          6  That's a step forward.

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORGAN:

          8  You know the answer that we would have to give you.

          9                 However, we will take this all under

         10  consideration, and go back to the agency and discuss

         11  it, and that's the best I can tell you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I

         13  appreciate that.

         14                 Let me say this: We respect everyone

         15  who has come here today. I think an issue of this

         16  magnitude is one that would have warranted the

         17  presence of the top ranking official in each agency.

         18  But we have not insisted at this point on that.

         19                 I think it's going to be clear that

         20  in the coming days the members of the City Council

         21  are going to insist that Commissioner Eggleston and

         22  Commissioner Santiago weigh-in on this issue, and

         23  obviously ultimately the Administration as a whole,

         24  and the Mayoralty are going to be asked to weigh-in,

         25  because this is a timebomb ticking, in terms of the
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          2  people that obviously you do care about, the folks

          3  you serve. But also as I said in the beginning, if

          4  anyplace, anywhere in this country, 35,000 workers

          5  were being underpaid and not given particularly

          6  enough benefits, that would be an issue in and of

          7  itself.

          8                 So, this is only a question of when

          9  this becomes even more of a crisis, and we can't

         10  have our City Administration not taking a stance

         11  here when it has such incredible leverage over this

         12  situation.

         13                 And, so, I want to be clear that

         14  every day we're not intervening to stop this

         15  situation, we're effectively rewarding these

         16  agencies that are mistreating their workers. And I

         17  know that's not the way you look at it legally or in

         18  contracting terms. I respect that. I'm talking about

         19  policy, and I'm talking about the reality of

         20  business. Every day this Administration is not

         21  saying enough is enough is a day we're rewarding

         22  these same agencies because we continue to do

         23  business with them.

         24                 And I think it's fair to say that if

         25  you look around recent history and you look around
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          2  the world, you know, there was once an idea of

          3  divesting in, you know, not providing investments to

          4  countries or companies that are doing something

          5  negative in terms of human rights and in terms of

          6  the environment, and that became the most mainstream

          7  idea in the world and in fact changed the course of

          8  history for the better.

          9                 So, maybe it's time we divest in

         10  these agencies. Maybe it's time the City said, you

         11  know, it's not a given we're going to do business

         12  with you anymore unless you change your practices

         13  because it's hurting the people of New York City.

         14                 So, I'll just end by saying we

         15  appreciate you being here. We appreciate your good

         16  efforts to answer our questions. We do think it's

         17  crucial that the leaderships of your agencies and

         18  ultimately the entire City weigh in and we don't

         19  have a lot of time left.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 Okay, the next panel, we're going to

         22  hear from some of the folks who do this work, and I

         23  would urge the representatives of the Administration

         24  to, or some of them at least to stay and hear this.

         25  I will just say from our friends from HRA and from
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          2  DFTA, please leave a few of your colleagues behind

          3  because you're going to get to hear from the folks

          4  who are actually on the front line of this work.

          5                 I want to call forward, I think I

          6  have the list right, Jennifer Clarke, Portan Smith,

          7  Linda Bertoni and Yvette Jackson, all of whom are

          8  home health aides.

          9                 And while we're waiting for that

         10  panel, I inadvertently failed to thank someone who

         11  played a very helpful role in organizing this

         12  hearing, Counsel to the Aging Committee,

         13  Scheherazade Salimi. Thank you very much for your

         14  good work.

         15                 Welcome. Who would like to begin?

         16  Please introduce yourself.

         17                 MS. SMITH: Good evening. I'm Hortense

         18  Smith from Best Care, a home health aide.

         19                 I've been working for Best Care for

         20  the past 20 years. I work at home care. I take care

         21  of people in their homes. My salary is $8.75 per

         22  hour. I sit in the crowd and I hear, when this lady

         23  here was talking about living wage. I would like her

         24  to work 84 hours a week and only go home with $432.

         25  And if she can answer me that question, I will stop
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          2  talk.

          3                 To work with Best Care, I take care

          4  of people in their homes. You have to do all the

          5  necessary things that they give you, and a care

          6  plan. You have to cook, clean, wash, bathe the

          7  patient, because I have to bathe all of my patients.

          8  You have to sit up all night. I work from eight in

          9  the night until eight in the morning. Just sit up in

         10  a chair like this, and you have to watch the patient

         11  right through the night. Of course, some of them are

         12  very difficult to work with. You understand?

         13                 Then you go home, you have to add

         14  another job to help, because you're not getting

         15  enough. You don't get no health insurance, because

         16  they give me health insurance that is Aetna, they

         17  draw $40 per week, $40.22 per week. I am a diabetic,

         18  hypertension, my cholesterol high. I have to pay

         19  $111 the other day just to do the blood work. Aetna

         20  don't cover it.

         21                 I do an x-ray for my shoulder, I have

         22  to pay $34 for it. I went to pick up the medication

         23  for my diabetic, it's $56.38 co-payment. The Lipitor

         24  I take I still have to pay $56.48 co-payment. You

         25  have to pay $25 co-payment when you go to the
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          2  doctor. So, I don't see the difference for why they

          3  give me that insurance because it don't help. And

          4  you have to work so hard, because I sit up all night

          5  with these patients, you have to do everything that

          6  they write in that care plan for you to do. You have

          7  to take care of your patient. I work with my patient

          8  now, 12 years I'm with her. So, I would ask miss

          9  lady that was here, how would she like to go out and

         10  work 84 hours a week with a isamaris person

         11  (phonetic. difficult to discern due to dialect in

         12  language), a packison person (phonetic) or a

         13  epileptic person, and how would she feel about the

         14  situation?

         15                 Best Care don't take no interest in

         16  nothing. They just send out each worker, you work.

         17  You have to work because you have your bills to pay.

         18  You have to feed the family. But you must have to

         19  work.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         21  much. I think you hit the nail on the head and I

         22  hope folks from the Administration heard that

         23  testimony, because I think you just summarized

         24  everything that folks are facing.

         25                 Who would like to go next? Please.
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          2                 MS. BERTONI: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Linda Bertoni. I would like to take today

          4  opportunity to briefly inform you about my personal

          5  life, my daily activities and routine as a home

          6  health aide.

          7                 I'm a mother of two kids, and I

          8  provide shelters for my children and my sick husband

          9  who has a heart condition.

         10                 Every day before I leave home, I make

         11  sure they are ready to start their day for either

         12  church or school. I've been a home health aid for 23

         13  years, and I have worked for Best Care for 13 years.

         14  Best Care doesn't give me health insurance, pension,

         15  sick days or vacation time. Best Care only pays me

         16  $6.75 an hour.

         17                 MS. SMITH: Worse than me. Worse than

         18  me.

         19                 MS. BERTONI: And only one more

         20  dollars per hour on holidays. My patient and I, we

         21  know each other for 23 years. My patient has faith

         22  and trust in me, due to the outstanding services

         23  I've been providing for her. Every day I cook for

         24  her, bathe her, grocery shop for her, pay her bill

         25  and make sure she's happy.
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          2                 In fact, when I changed agencies to

          3  work for Best Care my patient followed me and keep

          4  me as a home health aide.

          5                 I extend myself for her and work for

          6  my fullest potential.

          7                 My work ability and love for may

          8  patient has caused her to have so much faith in me,

          9  she'll even call me daughter.

         10                 Best Care doesn't encourage me to be

         11  nice to my patient. It seem like they don't even

         12  care about their employees or their patient.

         13                 I ask you, I implore you to help make

         14  a change in the Home Health agency.

         15                 We, the workers of Best Care would

         16  like you to improve our working conditions, so we

         17  can substain our status as outstanding workers, care

         18  for our patients, and keep our patients safe.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very,

         21  very much. Very helpful testimony.

         22                 Who would like to go next?

         23                 MS. JACKSON: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Yvette Jackson. Please bear with me. I work for

         25  Personal Touch. I've been with this company for six
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          2  and a half years now. I haven't yet received health

          3  benefits, sick days or paid vacation. Due to the

          4  living wages, I'm earning now $11.10 an hour. I have

          5  five children, three grown children now and two

          6  teenagers. One of my sons have asthma, my other son

          7  had open heart surgery a few years ago. When my

          8  children get sick or I get sick, I have to go to the

          9  pharmacy to get medicine. I don't have health

         10  insurance to pay to take my children to the doctor.

         11                 If I'm sick I still go to work. I

         12  can't afford to take off from work, I'm putting my

         13  client health in jeopardy, because I have to put

         14  food on the table for myself and my family.

         15                 There has been times when I have been

         16  out of work for about three months and I've called

         17  the agency every single day asking for a case, they

         18  tell me they didn't have anything. So, for three

         19  months I was behind in my rent, I had to ask my

         20  landlord to give me an extension, give me time to

         21  pay my rent, just to make sure I have food on my

         22  table for myself and my family.

         23                 Excuse me. I apologize.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Take your time.

         25  Take your time.
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          2                 MS. JACKSON: When I go to work, I

          3  cook, I clean, I take care of my patient. Please

          4  forgive me (crying). When I have the cold or the

          5  flu, I still have to go to work, putting my client's

          6  health in jeopardy. There's been times I call the

          7  agency, I tell them that I'm sick, I won't be able

          8  to go in the next day, their response is "do you

          9  think you're going to be better by tomorrow?"

         10                 I had two cases, one for four hours

         11  and one for five. One I got off at one, I had to be

         12  at the other case at 1:00, which I was far away. So,

         13  by the time I got to my other case, they docked me

         14  for pay.

         15                 As far as my vacation, when I started

         16  they said you're supposed to work 1,840 hours. When

         17  I completed that, I called the agency. They told me,

         18  "I'm sorry, we don't count September and August."

         19  So, I said, "Okay." I did the extra two months. When

         20  I called back they told me I'm not entitled to a

         21  vacation because now I have to work two-thousand and

         22  some odd hours.

         23                 I have children that I want to spend

         24  time with. I don't think this is fair to none of us,

         25  'cause we're the ones are going to these people
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          2  home, we are the one taking care of these clients,

          3  you know, we are the ones that's helping them, while

          4  the people that we're working for are sitting back

          5  just collecting the money. It's not fair to us. I

          6  think we all are entitled to health and benefits,

          7  sick days and vacation pay. It's only right to all

          8  of us.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Jennifer, go

         10  ahead.

         11                 MS. CLARKE: My name is Jennifer

         12  Clarke. I work with All Metro. I'm a home health

         13  aide, but I have a different experience because I've

         14  been on both sides of the coin.

         15                 I work with All Metro for 14 years,

         16  ten and a half without any contract, any benefits,

         17  so I know where my fellow co-workers are coming

         18  from.

         19                 For the last 18 months I've been

         20  fortunate, and it's a few of us in this industry who

         21  thinks as home health aides we're fortunate to have

         22  a contract where we have two weeks vacation with

         23  pay, ten sick days, and paid time and a half and

         24  differential in weekends.

         25                 To me, I heard those specialists who
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          2  are on the top of the scale, and they were saying

          3  what they had to say. But I'm sorry they left,

          4  because they have to understand, and I hope somebody

          5  will bring them the message, that we're somebody

          6  too.

          7                 Home care is important. Home care

          8  isn't going anywhere. The point is, all of us in

          9  this room, if we're lucky enough, one of these days

         10  we're going to need a home care worker. I, for one,

         11  my parents are elderly, and I, for one, would not be

         12  happy to know that the home care worker, home health

         13  aid, was coming to take care of my mom and dad and

         14  when they have completed their task, they can't take

         15  care of themselves. Because we have to understand

         16  that a healthy work industry, is a more productive

         17  work industry.

         18                 When I used to work without health

         19  insurance, I was always worried what I'm going to

         20  take home with me. Because we're dealing with every

         21  disease that you can think of that's in the book.

         22  And we are not as protected as the people who work

         23  in the nursing home or the hospital. We are not told

         24  what we are going to deal with. And we have

         25  families.
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          2                 So, I was always a little nervous,

          3  and I would not give my 100 percent. I would step

          4  back because I'm protecting Jennifer.

          5                 Now that I have health insurance,

          6  where I know if I go to work and may patient is sick

          7  and I think I pick up anything for him or her, I can

          8  call my coordinator and say I need tomorrow off, and

          9  I'll get paid for that day. I'll go to my doctor and

         10  she'll write me a prescription. I'll take it to the

         11  pharmacy and I'll pay $5 co-payment. I can be back

         12  at work in three days.

         13                 All my fellow co-workers are home

         14  health aides, and we do the same job. None of us

         15  should be treated differently.

         16                 I hear they talk about home attendant

         17  and home health aide, and I'm just wondering, do

         18  they understand that we do the same thing? If they

         19  are gonna say they -- I'm going to use another word

         20  -- they negotiate, and one agency will pay 10, but

         21  one will take it for six. They're going to give it

         22  to six. What kind of service do they expect from

         23  those aides? You cannot give 100 percent when you're

         24  worried about how you're going to pay your rent, how

         25  are you going to prepare Thanksgiving meal for your
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          2  family, and why do I have to work all 12 months with

          3  no time off?

          4                 I implore you as City Council members

          5  who have more leverage than we all have in this

          6  room, do whatever it takes to make sure that few

          7  months down the road we can all say home health

          8  aides are treated as deserving citizens.

          9                 Thanks.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to thank

         11  all of you. This is exactly what we needed to hear

         12  to help us understand what you're facing. To help us

         13  understand why it's so important for the City now to

         14  stand up and say we can't accept what these agencies

         15  are doing any longer.

         16                 And the thing that really struck me

         17  was I heard each of your stories, and I hear

         18  everything that you're struggling with; first of

         19  all, the extent of your commitment to the people you

         20  serve was so admirable and so clear, you should all

         21  be very proud. In fact, let's give them all a round

         22  of applause for that.

         23                 And we put so many other public

         24  servants on a pedestal as we should, but you're

         25  doing some of the hardest work, and you deserve to
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          2  be put on a pedestal, and treated with the kind of

          3  consideration of people we're supposed to honor.

          4                 But the thing that really struck me,

          5  and I have to tell you, the way you describe each of

          6  your own personal experiences brought home so

          7  clearly that if you look at the titles of these

          8  agencies, and they're supposedly involved in caring

          9  for people and health care, and human services, and

         10  it doesn't sound like for a moment they've given you

         11  any care. It doesn't sound like for a moment that

         12  your health has been a concern for them.

         13                 So, you know, you're given all these

         14  rules of how you're supposed to treat the people

         15  you're serving, and, obviously you know from your

         16  own experience the best way to help people, but it

         17  doesn't sound for a moment like you if you called

         18  in, I think the example you gave, you call in, you

         19  say you're sick, and no one says, well, we hope you

         20  get well, or how can we help you, obviously, the

         21  best thing they could do for you is give you health

         22  insurance, that seems to be something that has not

         23  occurred to them. You know?

         24                 But it's very, very moving, what

         25  you've told us here today, and I think it's going to
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          2  inspire us to continue to use our leverage and make

          3  an impact. So, I want to thank you all very much.

          4                 Oh, yes, Chair Arroyo.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Yes, thank you.

          6                 Forty years experience between the

          7  four of you. You could have picked up and gone

          8  somewhere else and do something else, so just, you

          9  know, for whatever it's worth, thank you for hanging

         10  in. And, yes, we will do whatever it takes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Our next panelist has been very, very

         14  active on this issue, and is a true expert on it.

         15                 Aida Garcia, Executive Vice President

         16  of SEIU 1199.

         17                 We welcome you.

         18                 MS. GARCIA: First of all, I would

         19  like to thank you, both Co-chairs and the rest of

         20  the Council members, for giving me this opportunity.

         21                 Actually, I was trying to stay in my

         22  seat and not respond to your other questions. So,

         23  I'll be nice.

         24                 So, my name is Aida Garcia. I am the

         25  Executive Vice President of 1199 SEIU, United Health
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          2  Care Workers East. And I am responsible for our Home

          3  Care Division.

          4                 1199 SEIU represents over 70,000 home

          5  care workers in the New York City Metro area. SEIU

          6  represents 90 percent of the unionized home care

          7  workforce in this country, and 1199 has the largest

          8  number of home care workers of any other local

          9  union.

         10                 You have heard about the home

         11  attendants and housekeepers who provide care through

         12  HRA and DFTA contracts, and how the wages of these

         13  workers are governed by the New York City Living

         14  Wage.

         15                 These wages and benefits may not

         16  sound that great, but you should understand that it

         17  took years to struggle to get where we are today.

         18                 In 1986, when I first began working

         19  with home care workers, they were earning $3.85.

         20  There were virtually no benefits. There are over 75

         21  different agencies providing services under New York

         22  City contracts and 1199 and our sister unions help

         23  with union recognition and contracts for these

         24  workers agency-by-agency. It was a long, hard

         25  struggle, but now over 90 percent of these workers

                                                            108

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2  are unionized and since 2001, thanks to all of you,

          3  your predecessors, we have a living wage.

          4                 Workers with an 1199 home attendant

          5  contract also particulate in a comprehensive family

          6  health coverage plan without any deductibles or

          7  co-pays. They are entitled to vacations. They are

          8  paid time and a half if they work on holidays, and

          9  they participate in a modest pension plan, the only

         10  one in this country for home care workers.

         11                 1199 workers also have access to free

         12  career advancements and education programs, jointly

         13  administered by the union and employers and are

         14  given standard holidays and vacation pay.

         15                 But the workers at three for-profit

         16  vendors, Personal Touch, Prestige and Best Care,

         17  only get the minimum requirements of the Living Wage

         18  Law.

         19                 As you heard earlier in testimony,

         20  they said that, DFTA contracts are being paid and

         21  home attendants the living wage. But one of our

         22  workers testified here that she is getting, yes, the

         23  living wage, but she has not seen vacation or sick

         24  days or any of the other things that are governed

         25  and were under the RFPs and are governed by the
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          2  living wage.

          3                 We do not really know why these

          4  agencies refuse to sign contracts.

          5                 As we understand it, HRA monitors its

          6  agencies very closely and guarantees a set profit.

          7  No reason given why they won't sign a contract.

          8                 The bottom line is that it is not in

          9  their interest, and they do not care one bit about

         10  workers benefits, keeping with the employers who

         11  signed contracts.

         12                 We are often involved in funding and

         13  policy issues in health care, in providing quality

         14  health care.

         15                 We are interested in profits and

         16  given little as possible to workers.

         17                 Unfortunately this means that the

         18  union will probably have to take drastic, and I

         19  think unfortunate measures, to secure contracts for

         20  the workers at these three agencies.

         21                 We know Personal Touch, Prestige and

         22  Best Care from another struggle too. These agencies

         23  are also the large for-profit players in the highly

         24  lucrative home health aide sector. This is a

         25  complete different program than those run by New
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          2  York City.

          3                 Home health aides provide care to

          4  frail, elderly and disabled New Yorkers after they

          5  are discharged from the hospital and other health

          6  care facilities.

          7                 They provide health care, including

          8  changing bandages, monitoring calls and blood

          9  pressure, assisting with physical therapy, exercise

         10  and helping clients bathe, dress, et and make their

         11  beds.

         12                 For elderly disabled and recuperating

         13  patients, receiving care at home is far less

         14  expensive and more comfortable than remaining in a

         15  hospital or being sent to a nursing home.

         16                 These care givers are among the

         17  poorest paid workers in New York. There are

         18  presently 35,000 home health aides working in or

         19  near New York City. The majority are immigrant women

         20  and many single mothers who are the sole providers

         21  of their families.

         22                 1199 SEIU have been committed to

         23  winning fair and just home health aide contracts

         24  that over a four-year period mandate a living wage

         25  of $10 an hour, health benefits for the aides,
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          2  minimal paid vacation time and sick leave, and after

          3  years of struggle, including an industry-wide strike

          4  in 2004, union contracts now cover 20,000 aides.

          5                 1199 SEIU represents another 10,000

          6  aides at a number of for-profit agencies that refuse

          7  to sign a decent contract and continue to pay

          8  poverty wages.

          9                 The largest of those agencies is

         10  Personal Touch, Prestige and Best Care.

         11                 These agencies do not want to sign

         12  contracts because they prefer keeping the money for

         13  themselves. Executive compensation at home health

         14  agencies are a typical several thousand dollars a

         15  year, some are paid considerably more.

         16                 Most agencies are for-profits that

         17  require little or no investment risk and with a

         18  virtual guarantee of high returns.

         19                 For instance, the New York-based

         20  Personal Touch agency reported $8 million in after

         21  tax profits last year. Home health aides at Personal

         22  Touch are paid an average of $7 to $8 an hour and

         23  receive few, if any benefits, and many of them rely

         24  on public programs for their housing, their medical

         25  care, and put food on their table.
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          2                 1199 is not going to rest until we

          3  secure good contracts for the workers we represent

          4  at these agencies. We feel that the agencies are

          5  pushing us into a corner and forcing us to mobilize

          6  for a strike.

          7                 We do not want a strike. We always

          8  say strike is the last option. We want to negotiate,

          9  we want to get a fair contract, and we want to

         10  emphasize that these two sets of workers, we have

         11  the home attendants under the City contracts, and we

         12  have the home health aides that the agencies

         13  referred to as those other folks, well, they both

         14  live in this City, they pay taxes in this City, they

         15  shop in this City and they deserve the same benefits

         16  that all other City workers get.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you for

         19  your forceful testimony.

         20                 Ms. Garcia, has there been any

         21  response from Department for the Aging, or from

         22  Human Resources Administration, at a more senior

         23  level than what we heard here today, expressing

         24  concern about what's happening with these workers

         25  and about where this may be headed? Have you heard
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          2  any response from those agencies?

          3                 MS. GARCIA: No, we haven't. And in

          4  fact, these same DFTA folks had a big contract with

          5  one of our non-for-profit agencies a few years ago,

          6  and it was taken away, not because poor management,

          7  not because they were stealing money, not because

          8  the aides were not providing the work, but because

          9  they gave the contract to Personal Touch. That I

         10  know from experience.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And has

         12  anywhere in the City government, beyond the City

         13  Council, anywhere on the executive side, been any

         14  indication that they understand that there may be a

         15  strike looming here and what that could mean for our

         16  City?

         17                 MS. GARCIA: No, there haven't been.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: None at all?

         19                 MS. GARCIA: None at all.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And this has

         21  been going on now for a substantial amount of time.

         22  So this is not news?

         23                 MS. GARCIA: For the last two years I

         24  think we've been in and out of the newspapers and

         25  the TVs and the radios, and workers have actually
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          2  been out on strike, and just this past January, we

          3  had a big march from Central Park into Harlem. So, I

          4  believe that everyone here in the City, or maybe

          5  even around the whole state know what's going on

          6  with these workers.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think it's

          8  fair to say that your marches and rallies are hard

          9  to miss? Unless you're colorblind and can't see the

         10  color purple, they're hard to miss.

         11                 Chair Arroyo.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ARROYO: Congratulations

         13  on all of these accomplishments that you articulated

         14  in the testimony. I know that the road has been the

         15  hard one.

         16                 I think if any union is up to the

         17  challenge, it is 1199, and I think that, you know,

         18  what we do after today is probably more important

         19  than anything we've discussed here today, and I

         20  think that my co-chair and I need to have a

         21  conversation about how we, from our end, can help

         22  partner with you on your end to get the attention of

         23  those in the Administration and I see only one

         24  individual from the Administration here, unless I

         25  don't know them all, that we need to have a very
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          2  serious conversation about this issue so that it

          3  doesn't become a crisis for us to have to respond

          4  to.

          5                 We should be engaged in conversation

          6  to help the evolution of this service in our City to

          7  become a desired employment for the generations to

          8  come after all of these incredible individuals are

          9  at the point where they themselves need the

         10  assistance that they provide to others today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         12                 I know Council Member Stewart had a

         13  question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair, Madam Chair.

         16                 I don't know if you were here all day

         17  when you heard me ask the question about the monies

         18  for training. What do you know about the $1.4

         19  million that they get every year for training?

         20                 MS. GARCIA: I have no idea.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I'm talking

         22  just about Personal Touch.

         23                 MS. GARCIA: But I know for a fact

         24  that when we were organizing these workers, the

         25  little bit of training that they provide, which is
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          2  all in-service training, and I believe every so

          3  often they have to go for three hours into the

          4  agency to receive that training. And what they do to

          5  try to stop the agency from getting unionized, they

          6  stop all this training, they do training through the

          7  mail, they do a lot of outrageous things that I

          8  don't think the City is aware they're doing. If

          9  they're aware, they're ignoring it.

         10                 But I don't have any clue. I know

         11  that for the home attendants, we do get a

         12  contribution into our training fund, which is used

         13  to enhance, and many of these workers have graduated

         14  and become other health care profession, some

         15  nurses, some social workers, because of the little

         16  bit of money that we get into our training fund, but

         17  we used it wisely.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right, I

         19  understand that.

         20                 But you feel that they're using this

         21  $1.4 million as a leverage to really avoid doing the

         22  right thing with their employees?

         23                 MS. GARCIA: Excuse me? Could you

         24  repeat that?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.
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          2                 Based on what I'm hearing is that I

          3  get the feel that they're using this $1.4 million

          4  that they get every year to really avoid doing the

          5  right thing with their employees, and I want to know

          6  if you have any thoughts on that?

          7                 MS. GARCIA: Well, the first time I

          8  ever heard that this money existed and it was being

          9  used for training was today, and I believe my

         10  colleague had heard some of this, but yesterday, one

         11  day earlier. So, on a personal basis, I would say

         12  the negative.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, you think

         14  that if we were to take this $1.4 million and give

         15  it to 1199 for training, we can do that?

         16                 MS. GARCIA: I believe we would have a

         17  better trained workforce.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Because

         19  that's where I think this money should have gone to,

         20  where folks are being protected in every aspect in

         21  terms of their, not only their health benefits and

         22  all of those things, but at least living wage.

         23                 So, I cannot understand whereby they

         24  are not really showing any true form of monitoring,

         25  that's a lot of money. That's a lot of money, and
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          2  when you check that they have been getting this

          3  money for the past six years or so or even more, and

          4  the other agency were getting 2.4 -- 2.8 as a matter

          5  of fact they said, every year, and that's a lot of

          6  money for training. And I'm not seeing whereby it's

          7  really being monitored, and I feel we can look into

          8  that to make sure that that money is not just used

          9  in a way --

         10                 MS. GARCIA: Well, as a taxpayer, this

         11  would be money that I pay taxes on. I have an

         12  interest in finding out what they're doing with the

         13  money.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         15                 My other question, concern that I

         16  have, is that what was the main reason why, is it

         17  that we can't get the workers to be involved in the

         18  union. I mean, if we have 35,000 workers, what is

         19  the main obstacle for us to really get them

         20  unionized?

         21                 MS. GARCIA: I believe that getting

         22  the workers unionized is not a problem for us, and

         23  when you knock on these doors, when you find them,

         24  because they're very hard to find, you know, they

         25  work in individual folks houses and they're rarely
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          2  at home, it's not hard to organize them.

          3                 Our problem have been getting

          4  contracts for these workers. And if you sit across

          5  the table from these employers that you heard about

          6  and how much money they're making, and they sit

          7  there and want to negotiate ten cents and twenty

          8  cents and no health care benefits, that's a problem.

          9                 And so we've taken on this fight.

         10  We've tried to escalate it by coming here. We're

         11  trying to teach the public. We have done all we

         12  think -- we believe that we have done all we can to

         13  avoid strikes, and we're holding people back because

         14  we're here to provide a service to the elderly, not

         15  to be disruptive. But at the same time, we have to

         16  look out for our workers, and workers have to look

         17  out for themselves. I mean, the majority of times,

         18  you could ask any of these workers that are here, in

         19  the majority of times, they will prefer to go and

         20  take care of their client, than to take care of

         21  themselves.

         22                 And, so, that is the biggest problem

         23  that we have in getting workers to stand up and to

         24  fight for themselves is their caring that they have

         25  for their client. That's the biggest obstacle.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I have my

          3  last question basically to deal with training. And

          4  anyone who works as a home attendant, as someone

          5  explained to me awhile ago, it's the same thing,

          6  they all do the same kind of work anyway, how does

          7  it start out for them to get the training? Because I

          8  know most of the folks in my area, they go to a

          9  training institution and they pay monies to be

         10  trained; is there any other way that we find that

         11  they get training that is considered free?

         12                 In other words, what I'm trying to

         13  get at, do these agencies employ people first and

         14  then train them? Or they have to get that training

         15  with their certificate first before they can get a

         16  job?

         17                 MS. GARCIA: There are some agencies

         18  that contract their workers first, and then they

         19  train them. It varies from one to the other. No one

         20  does the same exact thing. And, so, there's always a

         21  cost to the workers where it could be lost wages or

         22  they would still have to come and pay car fare in

         23  order to go to these trainings.

         24                 In some instances, because a lot of

         25  these workers, particularly immigrant women, find

                                                            121

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2  that this is like the fastest-growing jobs here, and

          3  so they'll go to different institutions and pay

          4  their own little bit of money for these trainings.

          5  In some cases it could produce a job, in other cases

          6  they have wasted their money because sometimes they

          7  are being taken advantage of, they have all these

          8  different schools who claim to do these trainings,

          9  but yet, when they go to apply for work, it might

         10  not be the same requirements that are required by

         11  these agencies.

         12                 And, so, you know, it varies. Some

         13  are trained first before they get the job, and they

         14  are trained by the agency, they hold onto the

         15  certificates so that the workers can't go anywhere

         16  else and make better wages. They are stuck there

         17  until they feel like it, or if we have a union and

         18  we have a contract and then we demand that they give

         19  them back their certificate. So, they not only keep

         20  them, but they are not able to get work anywhere

         21  else, although they have had the training, because

         22  they don't have the certificate.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, in other

         24  words you're saying that the training is not

         25  standardized then?
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          2                 In other words, it's no the same

          3  training that they get every place that does this

          4  type of training?

          5                 MS. GARCIA: I believe that some of

          6  the agencies might not believe that the training

          7  they got specifically.

          8                 They also feel that people could buy

          9  their certificates or it might be improper, so they

         10  might demand their own training and not an outside

         11  one. Of if they already come with a certificate,

         12  they might have to take some additional training.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, the State

         14  Education Department has anything to do with this,

         15  in terms of giving certificates or giving licenses?

         16                 I know it used to be you get a

         17  license from the State, even after you get training.

         18  But is this involved with the home health aide and

         19  folks who work in that capacity?

         20                 MS. GARCIA: I believe that the

         21  Department of Health has some good criteria, but

         22  then there's good variations --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: There's no

         24  license?

         25                 MS. GARCIA: The home health aide have
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          2  to be licensed. So, you know, there are some

          3  differences in the work that they do.

          4                 Let's clarify that a little bit.

          5  Because the home attendants are basic personal care,

          6  including the shopping and bathing and cleaning of

          7  the house, and doing a lot of things for the client

          8  that they can't do for themselves. And the home

          9  health aide side, they have to do extra. Some of

         10  them have to change bandages and blood pressure and

         11  do extra things, and that's why they're required to

         12  have the certification.

         13                 On the other hand, you know, this was

         14  no mystery. We fought hard for home attendants. We

         15  negotiated a lot of good contracts, and we got the

         16  home attendants to the living wage, with the

         17  lobbying and the political will. That's what it

         18  took, political will, to make that step, and have

         19  the worker brought up to living wage.

         20                 So, now we're trying to bring -- so

         21  these workers were left behind. They're actually

         22  doing a bit more but they're getting paid much less.

         23  And so, they are allowed, like in the Personal Touch

         24  situation that you were asking before, the home

         25  health aide can go and take care of a client that's
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          2  normally taken care of by a home attendant.

          3                 The home attendant cannot do the home

          4  health aide work. So there's that difference. And,

          5  so, some agencies, what they do, like in Personal

          6  Touch and the Best Care, is that they, if they work

          7  a home attendant case one day, they'll get paid for

          8  home attendant case. If they work in the home health

          9  aide, they get paid a home health aide. So, no one

         10  of these workers could receive from week to week

         11  what their income is going to be.

         12                 They can't plan ahead because they

         13  don't know what their income is going to be.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         15  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         17  much, Council Member Stewart.

         18                 Well, Ms. Garcia, thank you again for

         19  your testimony. Very, very helpful. And I think as

         20  Chair Arroyo said, we know have to enter the next

         21  phase of this struggle in which we have to demand of

         22  the Administration a very strong and public stance

         23  on this issue, because the more the testimony is

         24  added up here, the more it's clear it's like we're

         25  watching a crisis develop and, you know, just not
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          2  getting a response to it. And the magnitude is huge.

          3  So, I want to thank you for making that so clear to

          4  us. And we want to work very closely with you to

          5  ensure that the City does take a strong stance on

          6  this very quickly.

          7                 MS. GARCIA: I think we've been too

          8  passive, and we need to come here, back again to the

          9  trenches, and show the Administration that we mean

         10  business.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sure your

         12  voice will be heard.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 We have one last panel, and then

         15  there's one person who signed up before the hearing

         16  began for public testimony.

         17                 So, the last panel is some folks who

         18  represent home care industry. Carol Rodat, the

         19  former Executive Director of the Home Care

         20  Association, and Elliot Greene, the Executive

         21  Director of Progressive Home Care.

         22                 You can clap.

         23                 We welcome your testimony.

         24                 MS. RODAT: Thank you. Mr. Greene is

         25  right behind me. We were both upstairs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Why don't you

          3  go ahead, and he'll join as he's able.

          4                 MS. RODAT: Good afternoon, Council

          5  Chairs and Council members. Thank you very much for

          6  this opportunity to testify.

          7                 My name is Carol Rodat and I'm

          8  currently the New York Policy Director for the

          9  Paraprofessional Health Care Institute, which is a

         10  national non-profit organization located in the

         11  South Bronx.

         12                 Our job is to improve the quality of

         13  care by improving the quality of jobs and

         14  strengthening the health care workforce. Our mission

         15  is carried out by a number of methods, including

         16  client-centered care-giving practices, better

         17  training, and effective public policy.

         18                 I will let you look over the written

         19  testimony and I will focus on a couple of points

         20  today, given that you've heard from a lot of very

         21  eloquent people this morning.

         22                 I would call attention to the fact

         23  that currently I am the Project Director for work

         24  that's being done by the New York City Workforce

         25  Investment Board, mapping the training and education
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          2  for long-term care jobs in health care.

          3                 Most importantly, PHI is also an

          4  employer in New York City. We run the Pathways to

          5  Independent System, and inside that system we have a

          6  home care agency worker-owned, which employs 900

          7  direct care workers in the South Bronx. We have the

          8  Independence Care System, which is a non-profit

          9  managed long-term care program serving 750 people

         10  with disabilities and in June of 2006, we will

         11  launch our Skill Center, which is a training center.

         12  Together we generate $70 million in annual revenue

         13  and employee 1,740 Direct Care Workers.

         14                 This is not the first time I've

         15  testified before the City Council on home care.

         16                 It was about two years ago, right

         17  before the strike, that I was invited to come and

         18  answer questions about home care, how home care is

         19  organized, and how it is financed.

         20                 As you well know, New York City's

         21  demographics are different from the rest of the

         22  State. In fact, New York City has been the primary

         23  driver of population increase, and we account for 70

         24  percent of the State's growth. Fifty-five percent of

         25  that growth is attributable to immigration. Those 65
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          2  and older are currently 13 percent of New York's

          3  population, but for New York City they can pose 45

          4  percent of the population.

          5                 As you well know and you've already

          6  commented on, this population is growing.

          7                 Home-based providers are among the

          8  City's largest employers of low-wage workers. One in

          9  seven low-income workers in New York City is

         10  employed in either home or community-based settings.

         11  And long-term care providers in New York City,

         12  whether they are certified home health agencies,

         13  licensed home care agencies, adult care, residential

         14  facilities or one of the two largest employers of

         15  low-wage workers, second only to retail sales.

         16                 In response to the awareness of the

         17  injustice of the situation, stakeholders in home

         18  care, organized labor, 1199 SEIU, long-term care

         19  employers, consumers and the City have taken steps

         20  to improve the wages and benefits for these workers.

         21                 You've already commented today on the

         22  Living Wage ordinance, which has been very important

         23  in improving the wages and benefits of these

         24  workers.

         25                 I would now like to turn to the
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          2  quality, what I call the quality connection. For

          3  people needing long-term care, 80 percent of that

          4  care will be provided by a direct care worker,

          5  personal care worker or a home health aide.

          6                 These workers spend the majority of

          7  the time with a patient, and they're in the position

          8  to be an active partner for patient outcomes.

          9                 Today, the turnover rate in home

         10  health care and home health aides in particular, is

         11  higher than it needs to be.

         12                 On average it is at least 40 percent,

         13  and in some agencies it's much higher. The important

         14  thing for the City is that this is not only an

         15  economic issue, because it costs $3,500 every time

         16  one of these workers leaves a job, $3,500 to go out

         17  and recruit and train and employ another worker. And

         18  by the way, that gets back into the economy of the

         19  City because we pay for it ultimately in our taxes.

         20                 But more importantly is the patient

         21  care issue, because the minute someone leaves a job

         22  you have broken the continuity of care. And

         23  therefore, you have to bring someone new to the

         24  case, and you have lot the ability to stay on top of

         25  that patient's care.
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          2                 I think the City has an important

          3  opportunity to make further advances for the home

          4  care workforce and the patients they serve.

          5                 The City Council could use its

          6  leadership to require sound, workplace practices in

          7  contracting for home health services that are

          8  supported by public dollars.

          9                 The Medicaid and Medicare rate for

         10  home health services is paid to a certified home

         11  health agency for a long-term home health care

         12  program.

         13                 That agency makes decisions as to

         14  which licensed agency will provide the aides

         15  services and how much they will be paid.

         16                 That agency can also require specific

         17  practices of the employers with whom it does

         18  business. Those practices should include a

         19  commitment to higher wages and better benefits,

         20  access to training, and management practices that

         21  are focused on improving the quality of care.

         22                 Just to give you an example of what

         23  can happen when you have a quality workforce that's

         24  well paid, well compensated, in terms of benefits.

         25  You can look to the visiting nurse service of New

                                                            131

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2  York, which has had something, a model called"The

          3  Learning Collaborative" that to date has trained

          4  14,000 home health aides and created 76 teams.

          5                 Those workers receive an additional

          6  37 hours of training to handle specific diseases

          7  afflicting the growing number of elderly in our

          8  City, Alzheimer's and dimentias, cardiac and stroke,

          9  diabetes, respiratory and wound care. Those health

         10  care teams are now mobilized to improve the quality

         11  of care, and this is a big issue in New York State,

         12  because in fact we have much higher rates of

         13  unplanned hospitalization than other states.

         14                 So, by integrating the direct care

         15  worker into the clinical team, we can begin to take

         16  steps to improve the quality of care in this City

         17  and in this State.

         18                 I would like to finally call one

         19  point to visibility for all of us here. Health

         20  policy over the years has been focused on

         21  expenditures. As New York transitions to more

         22  community-based options, the public policy and the

         23  health policy must now become workforce policy.

         24  Because if we do not have sound workforce policies,

         25  we cannot improve the quality of our health care,

                                                            132

          1  GENERAL WELFARE JOINTLY WITH AGING

          2  and we cannot ever be successful in any of the

          3  change in our health care policy.

          4                 Thank you very much for this

          5  opportunity to testify.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Mr. Greene.

          9                 MR. GREENE: My name is Elliott

         10  Greene. I'm with Progressive Home Health Services,

         11  and my main concern here is to speak about the

         12  effect strikes have on operations.

         13                 And you know, home care services, the

         14  delivery of home care services pretty much

         15  characterized by high degree of uncertainty, you

         16  know, wherein thousands of workplaces on a given,

         17  thousands of different workplaces where the unknown

         18  is part of how you plan for and manage the work.

         19                 I'm not telling anyone here anything

         20  that they don't know, particularly the workers. When

         21  you add to the uncertainty of what would happen in a

         22  strike situation, you can imagine the complexity.

         23  And I'd be willing to answer questions about that,

         24  but given the time, there's not much I need to say

         25  about it up front, other than that it does prevent
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          2  -- it does affect issues of continuity, patient

          3  care and it is something that as an operating agency

          4  we are concerned about.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 I'd just like to say to Ms. Rodat, I

          8  think the point you made at the end was extremely

          9  powerful, that everyone is talking about approaching

         10  health care in a new way, both to make it better and

         11  to reduce cost, and probably nothing would do more

         12  in that direction than working with the people who

         13  are there on the front line and understand what's

         14  happening with the client day-to-day. And once

         15  again, it begs the question of how we value the

         16  people who do this work we say is such important

         17  work, and we put folks who are supposed to mean the

         18  most to us, like our parents, in the hands of folks,

         19  then we turn around and give them minimum wage and

         20  no benefits.

         21                 So, what you said I think just added

         22  another layer to me of how important it is to

         23  redefine the role of the home health aides in our

         24  society, and to point out how so many of the things

         25  we hope to do going forward with our health care
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          2  system, really hinge on properly understanding the

          3  role of home health aides and giving them the kind

          4  of support and benefits and support they need to do

          5  their work.

          6                 So, I really appreciate the way you

          7  put that.

          8                 I know that Council Member Brewer has

          9  a question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Nice to see

         11  you, Elliott.

         12                 The question is, I was next door so I

         13  didn't hear all of the testimony, but I am focused

         14  on this non-profit versus profit, and I just was

         15  wondering from your perspective, would it be

         16  possible for the entire industry to be a non-profit

         17  industry?

         18                 MR. GREENE: Well, I wouldn't

         19  characterize the differences that way, because we

         20  are a proprietary agency, you know? And we have a

         21  long-standing relationship with 1199 that was

         22  developed on a voluntary basis. So, I think --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You're kind of

         24  unique, Elliott Greene.

         25                 MR. GREENE: I elect to allow for that
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          2  uniqueness in industry. There are issues, maybe the

          3  issues can be characterized in other ways, you know,

          4  in terms of how workers are treated and what the

          5  working and collaborative relationships are with

          6  other alliances in the industry that are important

          7  to deliver the types of things that Carol was

          8  talking about, in terms of continuity through better

          9  wages and benefits, better retention, and better

         10  education for workers.

         11                 So, I guess I don't know if I

         12  answered your question, Gale.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just I want to

         14  amplify that. So, you're saying that in fact having

         15  unionized workers with proper wages and benefits

         16  does lead to a better result for the client?

         17                 MR. GREENE: Well, other people can

         18  speak better to formal studies. I can talk in terms

         19  of our experiences.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         21                 MR. GREENE: That our turnover rate is

         22  lower since we have been working with 1199. Now,

         23  1199 has brought forth things into the industry to

         24  which all of us benefit in terms of the way we treat

         25  our workers. So, where the actual cause and effect
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          2  is, is kind of implicit in all of that. But given --

          3  well, the easiest way for me to say it is in New

          4  York State and particularly downstate, most of the

          5  workers are unionized in health care, if you look

          6  across all types of providers. And when you have

          7  had, as you have had with home health aides, a

          8  sector that was non-unionized, you create a weak

          9  link in the system in terms of protection of the

         10  workers and where public funds are going and what

         11  funds get distributed.

         12                 So, some of that has been somewhat

         13  remedied in the last few years through the

         14  organizing efforts of the union, where basically now

         15  the unions are quote/unquote protected -- the

         16  workers are protected, more home health aide workers

         17  are protected. There is a lot more work to be done.

         18  This isn't an overnight solution, but I think it's

         19  moving in that direction, in baby steps, perhaps,

         20  but there's been more breakthroughs in recent years

         21  than in the previous say 15 or 20 years that we've

         22  been in business.

         23                 MS. RODAT: The lowest turnover rates

         24  are in the home attendant program. And after that,

         25  what we call the high-road providers in this City,
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          2  like Progressive and others, they have around 20

          3  percent, perhaps 24, VNS partners is around 24. And

          4  after that, then you get this jump up to 40 percent

          5  and even higher.

          6                 So, there is a correlation, at least

          7  there has been in my decade of studying this, that

          8  there is a correlation between the quality of the

          9  job, the wages and the benefits, and whether or not

         10  people leave those jobs.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And have you

         12  ever heard the employers that choose not to unionize

         13  and choose not to give benefits whether unionized or

         14  not. Have you ever heard them respond to those

         15  dynamics? And when you talk about the fact that it

         16  obviously is improving the industry, it's improving

         17  retention, and what do they say to that, and what is

         18  their rationalization for not providing appropriate

         19  wages and benefits?

         20                 MS. RODAT: Well, there's a couple of

         21  rationalizations. And I think the first and the most

         22  salient rationalization is that the Medicare and

         23  Medicaid rate go through two agencies before it gets

         24  to the worker. And, so, there is overhead in both of

         25  those agencies. That's what I testified on over two
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          2  years ago, and that is really a problem. It's

          3  particularly a problem when you have a hundred

          4  licensed agencies in a City of this size and the

          5  workers are not in a place where they can get the

          6  support. So, when you spread them over a hundred

          7  agencies, you're going to have some people that are

          8  not going to be able, they're not going to have the

          9  volume, they're not going to have the money to pay

         10  what they ought to pay. And, so, the way we organize

         11  home care has always been one of the excuses.

         12                 I think one of the other things that

         13  I've heard over my ten years of working with a

         14  variety of providers is that it's their agency.

         15  There's an ownership issue, this is my company, and

         16  for some years it was an attitude of I'll do what I

         17  want.

         18                 I think luckily more and more people

         19  have seen the light that there's a connection

         20  between how you behave to your workforce, and

         21  whether or not you're successful and profitable in

         22  the longrun. So, hopefully more people will get that

         23  message.

         24                 The last and not least is that until

         25  we figure out how we're going to pay differently in
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          2  this system, and track those dollars, we have not

          3  tracked the dollars. We have no mechanism to see

          4  where those dollars go after they come from a

          5  certified agency to a licensed agency. We've been

          6  waiting now for over two years to figure out how to

          7  track those dollars.

          8                 We also have no mechanism for

          9  tracking the outcomes of these agencies in terms of

         10  the placement rates after they do training, how long

         11  people are retained afterwards. I just testified in

         12  Albany a couple of weeks ago on the workforce budget

         13  hearing and advised them that they need to put in

         14  place accountability standards.

         15                 There's a lot of money that goes out

         16  for training.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, thank

         18  you. I think your testimony has been extraordinarily

         19  clear and helpful about the real dynamics at play

         20  here. And it really helps us to understand what we

         21  have before us. So, thank you, both very much.

         22                 MS. RODAT: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The last

         24  witness signed up for public testimony is Joyce

         25  Brown. Joyce is still here? Please step forward.
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          2                 Ms. Brown, as you come forward, all

          3  public testimony, this is standard in the Council,

          4  is two minutes, and only for those who have signed

          5  up in advance as you did.

          6                 So, we welcome you. We have a

          7  two-minute clock running, we welcome y our

          8  testimony.

          9                 MS. BROWN: Two minutes?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, Ma'am. We

         11  have a clock right up there. You'll get three

         12  minutes, there you go.

         13                 MS. BROWN: Yes, I've never seen it in

         14  practice.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes. For public

         16  testimony. Go ahead.

         17                 MS. BROWN: My name is Joyce Brown, a

         18  registered nurse, who has worked in many areas of

         19  the health care field. In 1974, when community

         20  health was just beginning, I received a master's at

         21  Columbia for community health nursing.

         22                 I worked in home health -- no, it was

         23  school, to train home health aides, which are

         24  supposed to be different from personal care workers,

         25  or because they are specially trained for a length
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          2  of time, they pay for this schooling and they have

          3  to pass the test, so that they can be licensed by

          4  the State.

          5                 Also, I work a Lombardi program,

          6  which excellent Lombardi program, which is called

          7  Nursing Home Without Walls. I had to visit the

          8  patients in all kinds of weather.

          9                 Two minutes? I have two minutes. I

         10  had 48 seconds.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Continue,

         12  please.

         13                 MS. BROWN: Okay. I worked in Lombardi

         14  Program with one of the best supervisors, nursing

         15  supervisors I've ever had, had to visit the patients

         16  and the blizzards, the freezing, the hot summer

         17  months, walking up stairs, so I had to visit the

         18  patients to assess the patient's status and to

         19  evaluate the home health aide.

         20                 They weren't home health aides, they

         21  were personal care workers, where they did the jobs

         22  that I would like done.

         23                 Medical care wasn't necessary, so

         24  they did everything, they did your shopping, they

         25  did your banking, they were like your partner there.
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          2                 I had to cover on the weekends, some

          3  weekends. One weekend was a very severe blizzard,

          4  those aides tracked through the snow and stayed with

          5  their patients. That was above and beyond the call

          6  of duty since their pay was so low. And I had to

          7  call all the homes to make sure there was someone

          8  there taking care of them.

          9                 Now, true, there are many aides that

         10  are excellent. There are also many aides who come

         11  into the house and all they do is look at

         12  television. I'm sure you've heard of those.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Ma'am, I'm

         14  going to ask you now to please sum up.

         15                 MS. BROWN: Yes, I will. Since this is

         16  the first time I've heard and I've been a speak at

         17  many of these meetings. I've never heard of the two

         18  minutes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Ma'am, I assure

         20  you, I've been chair for four years, this is the

         21  standard procedure for folks who are not on the

         22  original panel. So, please sum up. We appreciate it.

         23                 MS. BROWN: Sir, I will not repeat my

         24  statement, since it is true, okay? I think that

         25  every home care worker should have a decent salary,
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          2  vacation time and sick leave. And also to be

          3  supervised to make sure they are doing the job

          4  correctly and not sitting and watching television.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, thank

          6  you. I'd just like to say by way of conclusion, I

          7  want to thank everyone who has been at the hearing

          8  here today. I want to thank my fellow chair, Council

          9  Member Arroyo. We have a lot of work to do ahead,

         10  and I want to urge everyone to continue to be

         11  vigilant on this issue, because we have to get clear

         12  to the Administration and the City that we cannot

         13  continue to reward agencies that mistreat their

         14  workers.

         15                 Thank you very much. This joint

         16  meeting of the General Welfare Committee and the

         17  Committee on Aging is now adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 4:08 p.m.)
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